Guidance for implementing

non pharmacological

public health measures in

populations in situations of vulnerability

in the context of COVID-19



Guidance for implementing non pharmacological public health measures in populations in situations of vulnerability in the context of COVID-19

PAHO/IMS/FPL/COVID-19/20-0021

© Pan American Health Organization, 2020

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO license (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo).

Under the terms of this license, this work may be copied, redistributed, and adapted for non-commercial purposes, provided the new work is issued using the same or equivalent Creative Commons license and it is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO) endorses any specific organization, product, or service. Use of the PAHO logo is not permitted.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by PAHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall PAHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

Contents

Acknowledgements	1
Purpose of this guide	2
Target audience	2
Methodology	2
Abstract	4
1. Background	6
2. Implementing non-pharmacological public health measures: barriers and adverse effects	8
3. Determining the additional burden of vulnerability in the context of COVID-19	11
4. Strategies to address the barriers and adverse effects associated with non	
pharmacological public health measures	19
5. Recommendations and strategies to respond to the needs of groups in situations of vulnerability	
in the context of COVID-19	23
Strategies and recommendations for implementation of non-pharmacological public health measures	
A. Individual quarantine of cases and contacts	
B. Home confinement	
C. Closure of nonessential workplaces and businesses	29
D. School closures	31
E. Enclosed facilities (nursing homes, quarantine centers, penitentiaries, extended-stay facilities, shelters, etc.)	32
F. Restrictions on gatherings and mass events (cultural, sports, social, religious, and political events)	34
G. Restrictions on public transit	35
H. Handwashing with water and soap	36
I. Management of public health measures at the local level	37
J. Special considerations for essential workers and the continuity of the services they provide	
Cross-cutting recommendations	39
a. Recommendations for RISK COMMUNICATION	
b. Recommendations to facilitate SOCIAL AND COMMUNITY PARTICIPATION	40
c. Recommendations to guarantee respect for HUMAN RIGHTS	40
d. Recommendations for MONITORING AND EVALUATING the measures	41
6. Final thoughts	42
References	43

Acknowledgements

This guide was prepared by Gerry Eijkemans, Orielle Solar, and Fernanda Lanzagorta, with contributions to the final manuscript and its review by the members of the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO) working group on population groups in situations of vulnerability in the context of COVID-19, who met periodically during its preparation and are listed below:

Gerry Eijkemans, Orielle Solar, Fernanda Lanzagorta, Britta Baer, Betzabé Butrón, Alex Camacho, Luis Gabriel Cuervo, Antony Duttine, Diego González, Marcelo Korc, Alejandro Morlachetti, Pedro Ordúñez, Claudia Pescetto, Sandra del Pino, Rosemeire Pinto, and Patricia Schroeder and the interns of the Health Promotion and Social Determinants Unit of PAHO'S Department of Family, Health Promotion and Life Course, Rachel Lee, Denese McFarlane, and Debbie Saintelmy.

We would like to thank the team of the PAHO Incident Management System, especially Roberta Andraghetti, Alex Camacho, Amalia del Riego, Pablo Jiménez, Enrique Pérez, and Ludovic Reveiz, for their collaboration.

Figures 1 and 2 and Table 1 were prepared by Orielle Solar.

Design and layout: Victor Ariscaín

Purpose of this guide

The purpose of this guide is to offer recommendations for improving the implementation of non pharmacological public health measures during the COVID-19 response and compliance with these measures by population groups in situations of vulnerability. This requires determining the main barriers to implementing these measures so that we can identify the groups and territories most affected during the different phases of the pandemic. With this objective in mind—and within the framework of an equity, human rights, and diversity approach—, policies, strategies, and interventions to accompany the implementation and flexibilization of the measures are recommended to ensure that no one is left behind.

Target audience

This guide is for decisionmakers, technical teams, and policy implementers in national and local governments. The recommendations should be adapted to the context of each country, territory, and community..

Methodology

This guide was prepared using an analytical framework designed by an expert panel comprised of PAHO professionals. This framework made it possible to identify barriers and adverse effects associated with implementation of preventive measures, groups in situations of vulnerability affected by these barriers and effects, and strategies to address them.



The analytical framework was designed on the basis of a search for information in centers and platforms such as EvidenceAID, Epistemonikos, LILACS, Cochrane, the Campbell Collaboration, McMaster Health Forum, Oxford CEBM, ePPICENTRE, United Nations agencies, development banks (Inter-American Development Bank and World Bank), PAHO and WHO databases, networks of experts, and country documents.

In addition, the Latin American and Caribbean Center on Health Sciences Information (BIREME) conducted a search in the Virtual Health Library, EMBASE, and PUBMED using key words related to topics previously identified by the expert panel. A taxonomy was developed in consultation with the panel to organize the information regularly published in a virtual library created with the Zotero software.

This collection is updated weekly and included 1,304 bibliographic references as of the date of publication of this guide. The articles, reports, and data were reviewed and systematized using the aforementioned taxonomy to identify barriers and effects associated with the implementation of the measures, as well as potential strategies to address them. It should be noted that 48% of the implementation recommendations and strategies come from the recommendations of PAHO and WHO, 40% from other United Nations agencies, 7% from published articles, and 3% from country reports.

The guide's value lies in the consolidation of information from different sources, which is then linked with each non-pharmacological public health measure for easier understanding. It should be pointed out, however, that the generation of evidence on COVID-19 is ongoing, meaning that much of the information available to date comes from case studies, observational studies, surveys, and predictive models.

See the following link for the sources of information used to identify barriers, adverse effects, groups in situations of vulnerability, and implementation strategies: <u>https://www.zotero.org/groups/2488689/covid y grupos vulnerables</u>.

Abstract

The COVID-19 pandemic has not only exposed the vast inequalities and inequities in the Region of the Americas but has also exacerbated them. In response to the pandemic, the countries of the Region have adopted non-pharmacological public health measures, including home confinement and school and business closures, but for these measures to be effective, the entire population must be able to comply with them.

Successful and sustained implementation of the measures is a direct function of the social, economic, and cultural status of the different population groups and territories. The pandemic has shown that vulnerability extends beyond individual and biological characteristics and is determined by the social, economic, and political context. Informal workers, migrants, people living in overcrowded conditions, etc., have proven especially vulnerable during the pandemic. Power distribution mechanisms have created a series of inequities associated with social class, race, gender, income level, and geographic location. For example, informal settlements, where the migrant population faced harsh situations of insecurity and exclusion prior to the pandemic, have been especially impacted by factors such as informal employment, lack of social protection, and limited access to health services.



It is essential to create conditions that ensure compliance with public health measures. This implies eliminating barriers or obstacles that have arisen during their implementation (for example, by facilitating the access to water and soap for handwashing). At the same time, it is necessary to address the adverse effects and consequences of implementing these measures, whether social, economic, or health-related (for example, by extending social protection to informal workers and people who have lost their income).

The purpose of this document is to offer guidance for improving the implementation of non pharmacological public health measures during the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as compliance with these measures in populations and territories in situations of vulnerability. The target audience for this guide is decisionmakers, technical teams, and national and local government policy implementers.

This document examines the barriers and adverse effects associated with the following non-pharmacological public health measures: individual quarantine of detected cases and their contacts; home confinement; the closure of nonessential workplaces and businesses; school closures; the isolation of congregate settings such as nursing homes and prisons; limitations on gatherings and mass events; transport restrictions; hand hygiene; management of the public health measures at the territorial level; continuity of services; and protection of essential workers. This guide also offers cross-cutting recommendations related to risk communication, social and community participation, human rights, and monitoring and evaluation of each public health missing.

The proposed recommendations and strategies facilitate adaptation of the measures for their implementation in the different phases of the pandemic, from an intersectoral perspective that addresses the social determinants of health and equity. The implementation of inclusive social policies will lower barriers and mitigate adverse effects of the public health measures, which unequally affect the target population, depending on their living and working conditions. It is also essential for local governments and community leaders to play an active role in decision-making and the implementation and in adapting the measures to each context.

This guide was prepared by a multidisciplinary panel of experts from the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO). Its value lies in the integration of recommendations by PAHO and the World Health Organization (WHO), United Nations agencies, and information found in country publications and reports, and their link with each non-pharmacological public health measure. It should be noted, however, that the generation of evidence on COVID-19 is still ongoing. Quality research is required in order to address knowledge gaps.

1. Background

Since early 2020, the world has been in the throes of an unprecedented health, social, and economic crisis caused by the pandemic unleashed by the SARS-CoV-2 virus, the pathogen responsible for COVID-19 (1, 2). Around the world, the pandemic response has required the implementation of public health measures, which have had a greater impact on certain social groups and territories, exposing pre-existing social, economic, and health inequalities (3). The Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean (ECLAC) projects a 9.1% decline in the region's gross domestic product (GDP) as a result of the pandemic. This decline is expected to push the unemployment rate to 13.5% in 2020 and increase poverty by seven percentage points to 37.3% (impacting 231 million people). Meanwhile, extreme poverty is projected to jump to 15.5%, affecting a total of 96 million people in the region (4, 5). ECLAC projects increases in the Gini coefficient of 1.1% to 7.8% (6), representing an amplification of inequalities (7, 8) and their corresponding impact on health outcomes (9).

This guide focuses on non-pharmacological public health measures—specifically, individual isolation or quarantine, home confinement, school and workplace closures, restrictions on public transit, the control of congregate facilities, including voluntary extended-stay facilities and detention centers, as well as restrictions on gatherings, and the promotion of hand hygiene. Its objective is to identify the barriers or obstacles that have arisen when implementing the measures, as well as their adverse effects, including social, economic, and health effects (direct or indirect). This guide does not discuss barriers specifically associated with access to health services, testing, or tracing, but rather, those stemming from the implementation of non-pharmacological public health measures whose effects on the continuity of care have been reported by the health services (10, 11).

A panel of experts from several PAHO programs was tasked with identifying the barriers and adverse effects associated with the public health measures. To do so, it employed a matrix of key questions based on a theoretical assessment (12, 13). This first expert assessment was compared with different guidelines and recommendations published by the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO), the World Health Organization (WHO), and other international organizations, with systematic reviews of the literature on topics associated with COVID-19, and with the available studies and opinion pieces, country reports, and news.¹ Figure 1 presents a summary of the questions and framework used in evaluating and systematizing the barriers and adverse effects identified.

¹ For more information in this regard, see section on the methodology for preparing this guide.



Figure 1. Framework for the study of barriers, adverse effects, and population groups in situations of vulnerability in the context of COVID-19

This diagram shows that certain non-pharmacological measures have adverse effects that are not necessarily barriers to their implementation, as in the case of school closures; others, in contrast, present problems with implementation and also produce adverse effects, as is the case with confinement measures. Furthermore, there is interaction and positive reinforcement between many of the measures, while some become more important with the passage of time or at certain points in the pandemic, resulting in a complex dynamic system. By identifying barriers and adverse effects, it has been possible to determine which population groups could be facing these problems and thus be in situations of particular vulnerability to the pandemic.

The three elements identified in Figure 1 (barriers, adverse effects, and groups in situations of vulnerability) are of key importance when implementing non-pharmacological public health measures tailored to the local context, which is essential for guaranteeing that the measures are feasible, acceptable, and sustainable (14, 15). These elements also play a significant role and need to be taken into account when lifting the measures or making them more flexible. Analysis of the three elements should always consider the conditions of COVID-19 transmission, response capacity in the health services, etc.

2. Implementing non-pharmacological public health measures: barriers and adverse effects

The effectiveness of a public health intervention depends not only on the intervention itself but on the modality and degree of implementation achieved (16). Therefore, the process of adapting the measures is crucial, taking the different contexts and needs of the population into account (17, 18), along with the social and economic impact of a particular measure on groups in situations of vulnerability (19-21).

WHO has noted the need to balance public health measures with the conditions and risk factors in the target communities, strengthening local structures and systems through community participation (3). Governments have a responsibility to take action to control COVID-19 risks and mitigate the adverse effects of the measures taken (22). This implies recognizing that public health measures cannot be implemented with equal ease in all communities, even when they are compulsory. Not everyone can, with the same ease, comply with physical distancing, voluntarily "stay at home," or frequently wash their hands, even when these measures are compulsory.

In Jamaica, for example, more than 40 communities in metropolitan Kingston have reported problems with physical distancing and handwashing. In these communities, many informal settlements lack water and basic sanitation and have high levels of overcrowding. Consequently, the difficulty of implementing these public health measures puts these places at higher risk for COVID-19 transmission (23, 24). In Chile, disparities were documented in the degree of compliance with measures to reduce mobility following school closures and the imposition of territorial quarantines.² These disparities are correlated with different income levels: while high-income districts showed significant reductions in mobility, even in non-compulsory periods, the reduction in low-income districts was much smaller, even in periods of compulsory quarantine. In some of these districts, the reduction in mobility during compulsory periods did not exceed 20-30% (25).

The authors conclude that people's mobility is closely linked with socioeconomic factors; thus, the effectiveness of measures to reduce mobility depends to a large extent on the design and implementation of complementary public policies that facilitate compliance with the measures. This disparity in mobility reduction may be explained by the fact that a vast majority of workers³ cannot stay at home because it would mean losing their daily income. The International Labour Organization (ILO) indicates that only 23% of workers can continue working by doing so remotely (26).

At the same time, some groups require special consideration. For example, many persons with disabilities depend on caregivers for their daily existence, whether in assisted living facilities, group homes, or in their own homes. This makes social distancing virtually impossible for these groups, especially for those with lower incomes (27, 28). The World Bank estimates that 20% of

² The movements of residents in the Metropolitan Region were analyzed using statistical data and information from telecommunications use, disaggregated by census area.

³ In this document, the term *worker* refers to all workers, male and female.

the world's poorest people have some type of disability and are usually considered the most disadvantaged people in their communities (29).

Another group requiring special consideration is indigenous communities. It is essential to consider the sociocultural, work, mobility, and housing patterns of these communities, along with their different concepts of health and disease, to avoid poor implementation of the measures and prevent increased risk of exposure (30).

For example, some indigenous communities in the region, such as the Mixe people in Mexico (31), have resisted compliance with territorial quarantines due to the cultural importance of domestic and cross-border movement.

Furthermore, the lack of information in indigenous languages has limited implementation and compliance with social distancing measures in rural Mapuche communities in Chile (32). In Inuit communities in Canada and the United States, who live in groups where meals and activities are shared in communal spaces, social distancing has proven difficult (33, 34).

It should also be noted that new vulnerable population groups have emerged during the pandemic due to loss of employment. These new situations of vulnerability are the result of business closures, restrictions on school operations and cultural activities, or a halt in economic activity for self-employed persons and workers in the informal economy (35, 36).⁴ A significant portion of migrant workers⁵ throughout the world are on the front lines of the COVID-19 pandemic, since they perform essential but generally poorly paid work, for example as caregivers, janitors, or laundry workers--jobs that pose a high risk of exposure to the virus. Many of them have irregular immigration status or work in the informal sector. This is especially true of women in domestic service with unstable contracts, no paid leave, or the ability to work from home (37). The situation of these women entails a much higher risk of abuse and exploitation, particularly for those who cannot return to their home country due to travel bans and border controls that leave them stranded far from home (38). Furthermore, due to the economic recession caused by COVID-19, migrant workers are sending home fewer remittances, further exacerbating the vulnerability of families that depend on this income (39, 40).

These brief examples show the importance of considering the cultural, economic, and political characteristics of the place where people live and work, and they reveal a scenario where the conditions for implementing public health measures are unequal and protection from COVID-19 transmission and its impact depends on factors such as income, social protection, and employment, ethnicity, and gender. These factors determine to a large extent how hard it is for certain groups or territories to access, implement, comply with, and sustain the recommended public health measures.

⁴ Informal economy refers to all economic activity by workers and economic units that are, in law and practice, not covered by formal arrangements. This includes wage workers without social protection or other formal arrangements in both informal and formal enterprises, self-employed workers such as street vendors, and domestic and family workers. Source: International Labour Organization. ILO Monitor: COVID-19 and world of the work. Second edition. Updated estimates and analysis. Geneva: ILO; 2020. Available from: https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---dcomm/documents/briefingnote/wcms_740877.pdf.

⁵ The IOM defines migration as the movement of persons away from their place of usual residence, either across an international boundary or within a State. Source: International Organization for Migration. Key Migration Terms. Geneva: IOM; Available from: <u>https://www.iom.int/key-migration-terms</u>.

These contexts, conditions, and environments are related to the social determinants of health (SDH),⁶ which, in turn, become mechanisms for exclusion and inequity in access to public health interventions and to health services (41, 42). Notwithstanding their importance, the SDH have not been given sufficient weight in the design and implementation of interventions. As a result, the concept of vulnerability in the context of the pandemic has often been limited to people with multiple comorbidities associated with COVID-19 severity and mortality. This approach poses the inherent risk of not knowing or not adequately considering social and economic dimensions, which can increase exposure to the virus, as well as the morbidity and mortality associated with COVID-19 and other health problems (43, 44). It is, therefore, necessary to identify and define the conditions that make certain groups and territories more vulnerable in the context of COVID-19, so that they can be taken into account when implementing non-pharmacological public health measures.

⁶ Social determinants are understood as those in the structural realm of society that are related to the political, social, and economic context, as well as those that refer to daily living and working conditions. From this perspective, the approach is related to the concept of *social determination of health*, considering the distribution of power in society and at the global level as the main driver of the generation of social and health inequities.



3. Determining the additional burden of vulnerability in the context of COVID-19

Different agencies, PAHO and ECLAC among them, have noted the importance of considering additional measures to protect special populations and groups in situations of vulnerability (14, 45). This requires identification of the population groups and territories in situations of vulnerability.

Vulnerability is a key concept for understanding risk and expected outcomes in disasters and dangerous situations such as the COVID-19 pandemic. Numerous vulnerability mechanisms have been described, along with different approaches to their use and implementation, and they can also be defined from an operational standpoint or in terms of their intended use. (46-48).

Risk, as a technical term, is often defined as a neutral value. Vulnerability, however, is defined in relation to



the social, economic, and political context, thus reflecting patterns of social stratification (49).

Starting from these definitions, we have prepared an overview of the "concept of vulnerability" in the framework of the pandemic, and specifically, with respect to the implementation of public health measures. This concept emphasizes the social conditions that create and perpetuate situations of vulnerability in the population. By identifying the barriers and adverse effects people experience when implementing the public health measures, it was possible to identify the affected groups (50). This concept leads to better understanding of the mechanisms that produce and amplify inequities and social exclusion during the pandemic. In the context of COVID-19 and the implementation of non-pharmacological public health measures to contain the pandemic, a vulnerable group is defined as follows:

A population group or territory in which preexisting social conditions of exclusion and inequity are exacerbated by the pandemic. This situation not only presents barriers or constraints to the implementation of the necessary public health measures, resulting in a greater risk of exposure and infection, but the measures themselves also have adverse effects that impact health and the quality of life. This is compounded by the fact that certain subgroups in situations of vulnerability also suffer from comorbidities that heighten COVID 19 severity and mortality.

Within this context, it is necessary for each county or territory to undertake a review of the groups and territories in situations of vulnerability, since the eruption of the pandemic has revealed that certain groups, such as workers in the informal economy, have not been prioritized. In addition, the pandemic has worsened the existing exclusion and discrimination against groups such as migrants and their families, and the indigenous population, Afro descendants, among others.

The barriers and adverse effects associated with the implemented public health measures have been systematized and grouped in this guide under concept of *burden of vulnerability*, whose components and expression in the region are presented below, based on the information available to date.

 a) Vulnerability associated with a deepening of preexisting inequities and adverse social conditions, with negative effects on socioeconomic circumstances, quality of life, and health

Preexisting social and health inequities are generated and reproduced in societies through the unequal distribution of resources and power, resulting in limited access to decent material conditions, limited exercise of rights, life trajectories marked by exclusion and discrimination, and little political influence. This situation exposes these groups to greater adversity while limiting response capacity (51, 52), leading to higher COVID-19 prevalence and severity (53, 54).

One of the structural conditions of inequities in the region, whose impact has intensified during the pandemic, is associated with quality of employment and access to social protection. Lack of social protection for certain population groups in the informal economy, whose working conditions tend to be precarious, has created obstacles to compliance with certain measures and has had a significant impact on their household economy. A high prevalence of informal work negatively affects the well-being of the population and hinders inclusive growth (4).

The majority of precarious and informal workers perform manual labor in sectors significantly more affected by the interruption of economic activities due to the pandemic, such as small retail businesses, restaurants, hotels, services, manufacturing, transportation, agriculture, construction, and domestic service due to the pandemic (55). On average, for 54% of the economically active population in the region (approximately 325 million people), most of them women, work in the informal sector (56).

Some 65.8% of informal workers have no access to social protection systems or social assistance programs. Furthermore, almost half of informal workers living in poverty do not benefit from traditional social welfare programs, such as cash transfers and solidarity (noncontributory) pensions. This implies a return to poverty aggravated by the pandemic for a significant portion of this population (57).

Employment conditions become obstacles to compliance with quarantines and the requests to stay home, since many people must leave the house to search for work to earn their daily income. This situation is even more critical for migrant workers, whose access to health services is limited and who live in conditions marked by greater discrimination in the already existing climate of uncertainty and fear.

Box 1. Informality and precarious employment: barriers to compliance with measures among domestic workers

Domestic workers, mostly women (80%), many of them migrants, account for a substantial portion of the informal workforce and are among the most vulnerable groups of workers. The COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on this group; it is estimated that 73% of them in the region have lost their job. Domestic workers' organizations in the Dominican Republic report that workers fear getting infected and not being able to see a doctor. The COVID-19 test in the Dominican Republic costs US\$86, or roughly half the monthly wage of a domestic worker. These workers, moreover, express concern about financial problems, as they do not have enough money to purchase food and cannot go to work or look for a new job, since many employers do not want domestic workers to enter their home. Although the government has a program called Quédate en casa [Stay at home] that supplements the income of these workers, it is estimated that only 40% of domestic workers in the Dominican Republic have benefitted from it.

Note: Unión Nacional Fenamutra Trabajadoras del Hogar (UNFETRAH) represents 1,200 domestic workers in the Dominican Republic, including some that are Haitian migrants.

Sources: 1 International Labour Organization. Work in times of pandemic: The challenges of the coronavirus disease (COVID 19). Geneva: ILO; 2020. Available from https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---americas/---ro-lima/documents/presentation/wcms_745583.pdf.

2 International Labour Organization. COVID-19 shows why domestic workers need same rights and protection as others. Geneva: ILO; 2020. Available from: https://iloblog.org/2020/06/16/covid-19-shows-why-domestic-workers-need-same-rights-and-protection-as-other

3 King T, Hewitt B, Crammond B, Sutherland G, Maheen H, Kavanagh A. Reordering Gender Systems: Can COVID-19 Lead to Improved Gender Equality and Health? The Lancet; 396(10244): 80-81; 2020. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31418-5</u>.

Within this framework of structural inequities, another invisible group that experiences high levels of social exclusion and stigmatization are incarcerated persons. This group resides in enclosed facilities with a high risk of exposure and transmission.

Prisons in different countries concentrate the most vulnerable populations in each region, punishing in particular the poor, racial minorities, and, in certain areas, migrants, among others (58-60). There is a greater likelihood in prisons of finding people with mental illness (61-63) and a high risk of infection with communicable diseases such as HIV, hepatitis B and C, influenza, and tuberculosis (64).

WHO has alerted the authorities of various countries to the fact that prisons and other detention centers pose a greater risk of infection by COVID-19. This is due to their high levels of overcrowding and limited access to water and health services (65, 66). The situation is especially serious in Latin America, where the level of overcrowding is higher than the world average and where there are more prisoners than space to house them. By June 2020, more than 93,000 persons deprived of liberty in 88 countries had been infected with COVID-19, with 1,529 deaths from the pandemic in the prisons of 36 countries (67, 68).

Growing fear and disinformation have created tension and stress among persons deprived of liberty —especially those living with their children in prisons, which has significantly increased the levels of violence in penal institutions. As a consequence, jail breaks, riots, fights, and deaths have occurred in prisons in Argentina, Brazil, Bolivia (Plurinational State of), Chile, Colombia, and Peru (69-74). Special attention must be paid to children and youth in conflict with the law, who have often grown up in a violent environment and are at greater risk in this new context (75).

b) Vulnerability associated with difficulties adopting and complying with the recommended measures, creating greater risk of exposure to the SARS-CoV2 virus

The risk of exposure to the virus is not uniformly distributed among different population groups and territories. Certain groups are at greater risk, either because they cannot adequately comply with the recommended preventive and protective measures due to the nature of their work and their housing and working conditions (76).

This is compounded by the adverse effects of the measures themselves, which increase public rejection of the measures and thus, exposure levels. For example, confinement measures are hard to comply with in situations marked by overcrowding and a lack of income; and prolonging them imposes serious economic constraints on households without protection or with limited social assistance, risking a progressive deterioration in the family's mental health.

Handwashing or avoiding physical contact is difficult for the 20% of the urban population in Latin America and the Caribbean who live in slums or informal settlements with substandard housing and no access to basic services (clean water, for example) and where an average of up to three people share every room (77). In addition, the residents of these informal settlements are mainly poor and consist of women heads of household (36), migrants from other countries, and people (often indigenous) who have migrated from rural areas to the cities (78). This vulnerability is also observed in many essential workers, who must travel through cities on public transit to get to their jobs, further increasing the risk of exposure.



Box 2. Essential workers and greater exposure to COVID-19

High rates of infection have been found among essential workers. Studies in the United States show that frontline workers earn lower-than-average wages and disproportionately come from groups that are socioeconomically disadvantaged in comparison with the general workforce. For example, Latinos represent slightly less than 40% of the workforce in all essential industry sectors in California. This figure rises to 80% in essential farm labor, 50% in the food sector, and almost 60% in construction jobs. In California, more than 80% of the patients hospitalized with COVID-19 in May were Latino, many of them under the age of 50 and from different professions: roofers, cooks, janitors, dishwashers, delivery workers, etc. In New York City, 4,000 workers tested positive for COVID 19 by July 2020, and 131 transit workers had died of causes related to the virus, the majority of them city subway and bus drivers. Since 15 March 2020, almost 3,800 transit workers have tested positive for COVID-19.

Sources: ¹ D Blau F, Koebe J, Meyerhofer PA. Essential and Frontline Workers in the COVID-19 Crisis. ECONOFACT; 2020. Available from: https://econofact.org/essential-and-frontline-workers-in-the-covid-19-crisis.

² Branson-Potts H, Reyes-Velarde A, Stiles M, Campa AJ. The price of being 'essential': Latino service workers bear the brunt of coronavirus. Los Angeles Times; 2020. Available from: https://www.latimes.com/california/story/2020-05-17/latino-essential-workers-coronavirus.

³ Markowitz J, Goldbaum C. Transit Workers Were N.Y.C.'s Pandemic Lifeline. These 3 Paid a Price. The New York Times; 2020. Available from https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2020/07/26/nyregion/nyc-covid-19-mta-transit-workers.html.

c) Vulnerability associated with the adverse effects of the non-pharmacological public health measures themselves, which create health problems unrelated to COVID-19

The population's health has also been impacted by the efforts to combat the pandemic, as a result of confinement, unemployment, lack of income, economic uncertainty, the additional burden of care, restricted access to health services, etc. The short-, medium-, and long-term health effects can include malnutrition due to lack of food or poor-quality food; anxiety and depression; the worsening of pre-existing pathologies due to lack of access to timely medical services and procedures, interruptions in check-ups and care, increased alcohol and tobacco use, etc. An increase in domestic violence has also been observed, directly impacting the health of families and particularly affecting women, children, and older persons.

Violence also has consequences for sexual and reproductive health, including sexually transmitted infections, HIV, or unplanned pregnancies. The continuity of support services is therefore essential.

Box 3. Effects that amplify inequities: Violence and abuse of women in the context of COVID

Domestic violence has adverse health effects, among them a greater risk of chronic diseases, depression, post traumatic stress disorder, substance use, and even suicide. The highest rates of gender-based violence, reflected in a marked increase in calls to helplines, occur in disasters, humanitarian crises, or emergencies such as the pandemic. In Colombia, reports of domestic violence during quarantine are up by 175% as compared to the same period last year. In Mexico, calls to domestic violence hotlines increased by 60% in the first weeks of the shut down. In the Dominican Republic, the violence service of the Ministry of Women's Affairs received 619 calls during the first 25 days of quarantine. These data show an uptick in the risk of violence, which can dramatically increase if the quarantine is prolonged. In other countries, the number of reports has fallen, suggesting new access barriers for survivors due to the reorganization of health and protective services or limitations on their availability.

Sources: ¹ Pan American Health Organization. COVID-19 and violence against women, What the health sector/system can do. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2020. Available from: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/331699/WHO-SRH-20.04-eng.</u> pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y

² Anurudran A, Yared L, Comrie C, Harrison K, Burke T. Domestic violence amid COVID-19. Int J Gynecol Obstet; 1-2; 2020. Available from: https://obgyn.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/ijgo.13247.

³ Campbell AM. An increasing risk of family violence during the Covid-19 pandemic: Strengthening community collaborations to save lives. Forensic Science International: Reports 2020;2:100089. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7152912.

⁴ Plan International. Surge in violence against girls and women in Latin America and Caribbean. Woking: Plan International; 2020. Available from: https://plan-international.org/news/2020-05-19-surge-violence-against-girls-and-women-latin-america-and-caribbean.

d) Vulnerability associated with risk factors and comorbidities that worsen the clinical picture and mortality from COVID-19

People with underlying health conditions – for example, noncommunicable diseases (NCDs) such as cardiovascular disease, chronic respiratory diseases, diabetes, and cancer – are at greater risk of developing serious illness and have a greater probability of dying from COVID-19 (79). And the prevalence of NCDs is higher precisely in populations living in extreme poverty, making them more likely to experience complications from COVID-19 (80). Besides being more susceptible, low-income people experience higher rates of infection, morbidity, and mortality from COVID-19 (42, 81).

Box 4. Inequalities: COVID-19 in African-American communities in the United States

Deaths from COVID-19 in the United States are disproportionately higher among African Americans than the general population. In Washington, D.C., African Americans account for approximately 47% of the population and 76% of COVID-19 deaths in the city. In the United States, they are disproportionately represented in essential jobs in supermarkets, public transit, cleaning, or public safety. This population group, moreover, has low health insurance coverage and limited access to health services, including COVID-19 testing. In terms of housing, African American communities generally live in poor areas with a high density of dwellings, high crime rates, and little access to healthy food. These conditions partly explain the high infection and mortality rates and serious COVID-19 illness in these groups, exacerbated by the structural racism in the country.

Fuentes: ¹Yancy CW. COVID-19 and African Americans. JAMA; 323(19):1891-1892; 2020 Available from: <u>https://jamanetwork.com/</u>journals/jama/fullarticle/2764789.

² Van Dorn A, Cooney RE, Sabin ML. COVID-19 exacerbating inequalities in the US. Lancet; 395(10232):P1243-P1244; 2020. Available from: https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(20)30893-X/fulltext.

³ Eligon J, Burch ADS. Questions of Bias in Covid-19 Treatment Add to the Mourning for Black Families. The New York Times; 2020. Available from: https://www.nytimes.com/2020/05/10/us/coronavirus-african-americans-bias.html.

⁴ Egede LE, Walker RJ. Structural Racism, Social Risk Factors, and Covid-19: A Dangerous Convergence for Black Americans. New England Journal of Medicine;383:e77; 2020. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMp2023616</u>.

An analysis of the data on positive COVID-19 tests reveals a similar situation in New York City (United States). Data disaggregated by zip code (ZCTA⁷) show a socioeconomic gradient linked to the positivity rate.⁸ The highest rates were observed in residents ⁹of the most disadvantaged areas with higher poverty, higher percentages of overcrowding, and a higher proportion of African American residents (19, 53).

Finally, it is important to emphasize the **intersectionality** of inequities associated with social class, race, gender, income level, and territory, which together shape the mechanisms underlying the distribution of power and the gen-

eration of inequalities (82). These mechanisms relegate different groups and communities to a particular stratum or position in society, limiting their access to satisfactory material conditions and the exercise of their rights, leading to exclusion and discrimination and limiting their political influence (50, 83). This situation increases their level of exposure while decreasing their capacity to respond to adverse situations such as the COVID-19 pandemic. For example, intersectionality is expressed in informal settlements, where migrants from other countries and cities tend to reside, and where adverse situations of insecurity and exclusion existed prior to the pandemic. These settlements also house indigenous populations, who, in turn,

⁷ Zip code tabulation area (ZCTA)

⁸ The most disadvantaged areas compared with the most advantaged, according to the index of concentration at extremes (1,603.6 per 100,000 population versus 1,067.5 per 100,000, respectively); degree of overcrowding (1,699.0 per 100,000 population versus 1,219.4 per 100,000, respectively); and the percentage of African-American population (1,771.5 per 100,000 population versus 1,248.6 per 100,000, respectively). The highest positivity rate was observed in residents of the two most disadvantaged counties, disaggregated by poverty categories by ZCTA (15%-19.9% poverty: 1,553.0 per 100,000 population; 20%-100% poverty: 1,504.3 per 100,000 population; 0%-4.9% poverty: 1,046.7 per 100,000 population).

⁹ Does not refer to migration status but to the place of usual residence.

have lower educational levels and tend to work in the informal economy without social protection and with limited access to health services. Figure 2 summarizes the dimensions of the burden of vulnerability in the framework of COVID-19, as well as the public health measures described.

Figure 2. The additional triple burden: groups in situations of vulnerability related to COVID-19



Source: Authors.

Figure 2 reflects the complexity of the response to the pandemic and particularly highlights the challenges to organizing an integrated and intersectoral equity-based response that addresses the medium- and long-term effects of the pandemic. This complexity lies in part in the multiple vulnerabilities that must be addressed simultaneously and at different administrative and sectoral levels.

4. Strategies to address the barriers and adverse effects associated with non pharmacological public health measures

As long as effective COVID-19 vaccines and treatments (84, 85) are unavailable, it will be necessary to maintain and improve non-pharmacological public health measures based on the situation in each location, accompanying them with policies, strategies, and actions that remove barriers and mitigate the adverse effects associated with their implementation (86). A set of recommendations based on currently available evidence and information has been prepared and systematized. This information is taken from different sources (mentioned in the chapter on the preparation of this document), including guidelines and technical papers from PAHO, WHO, and other international and national organizations, taking the cumulative experience in the Region into account.



It is worth considering that most of the evidence on COVID-19 is still preliminary, given the unprecedented nature of the pandemic. Thus, more experience with the implementation of public health measures will be required to verify their effectiveness. The recommendations range from specific immediate actions to sweeping public policies that require greater political commitment and effort. The underlying principles for these recommendations are:

- 1) equity;
- 2) human rights;
- 3) gender equality;
- 4) cultural relevance;
- 5) community participation, and
- 6) intersectorality.

The pandemic has demonstrated once again that health progress and outcomes are highly dependent on policies, strategies, and actions which do not fall under the direct control of the ministries of health. What is needed, therefore, is an intersectoral participatory approach that involves not only the various government sectors and administrative levels (national, subnational, and local) but also communities and civil society, as well as the private sector.

It is essential for ministries of health to engage in health advocacy with the different sectors. The sectors that should be involved in the implementation of public health measures include housing, social security and social protection, labor, public safety, water and sanitation, agriculture, transportation, education, and especially, the economic sector. The health services should also promote intersectoral action, following the principles of primary health care (87).

Local governments play a key role in the pandemic response (88). Territorial leaders and community leaders in particular are those who best know the specific needs for implementing the measures and can help identify the barriers to consider during their adaptation to each specific context. To improve the response, it is essential to identify the most vulnerable population groups, neighborhoods, and households at the territorial level in order to include their communities and civil society organizations in the adaptation of the response (89-92). Innovative solutions can be found, and channels of communication developed at the local level; this approach makes it possible, above all, to strengthen social cohesion and community solidarity (93).

Table 1 presents a matrix summarizing the main barriers and adverse effects associated with non pharmacological public health measures. They are divided into 12 structural areas or factors, with an indication for each them of the possible intermediate factors or ways in which these barriers and adverse effects are manifested, as well as their relation to each of the measures. Factors associated with access to health services, testing, or tracing, among other things, are not included.

Table 1. Matrix summarizing the main barriers and adverse effects associatedwith certain non-pharmacological public health measures

Structural areas or factors	Intermediate factors (ways)	Individual quarantine	Home confinement	School closure	Workplace closure	Public transit restrictions	Congregate settings	Limitations on gatherings	Handwashing with water and soap
1. Material living conditions, including neighborhood infra- structure	 Lack of housing Overcrowded housing Collective practices in community life Absence of or irregular water supply. Limited public areas 								
2. Income and employment	 Lack of income Lack of unemployment benefits Inability to get to work 								
3. Social protection	 Absence of social rights Absence of labor rights Absence or weakness in the welfare state 								
4. Education and learning	 Changes in school operations and learning Lack of experience and means for distance learning 								
5. Cultural relevance	 Clash with ancestral community values, traditions, symbols, beliefs, and behavioral practices 								
6. Psychosocial risk and healthy environments	 Social isolation Deterioration in community relations Conditions adverse to healthy behaviors Greater uncertainty 								
7. Gender inequity and burden of care	 Caregiver overload Overload of housework Loss of women's autonomy 								
8. Delivery of basic services and supplies	 Difficulty or inability to access food vendors or the purveyors of other services Difficulty accessing or purchasing medicines Difficulty accessing essential protection services for children at risk of violence, persons with disabilities, etc. 								
9. Access and continuity of health care	 Lack of continuity in follow-ups, medical exams, and health care Lack of access to health services Postponement of consultations and neglect of health needs 								
10. Human rights	 Rights violations Greater discrimination Gender-based violence and violence against children and adolescents 								
11. Social participation and intersectoral work	 Lack of participation in the adaptation and implemen- tation of measures Lack of coordination between sectors and local actors 	-							
12. Communication	 Lack of information for persons with disabilities Inability to understand the official language Lack of regular and timely access to the media 	•							-

Source: Authors.

Grouping the barriers and adverse effects by structural areas or factors facilitates the identification of strategies to address them, as well as potential partners or key actors to work with. This information is described in greater detail in the recommendations chapter. This approach also makes it possible to identify the public health measures that create the greatest barriers and result in lower levels of compliance, as well as the information that can be included in their design and especially, in adaptations needed for the different contexts and phases of the pandemic, particularly at the local level.

The matrix also indicates potential intermediate factors and the ways in which these barriers and adverse effects are manifested. These should be examined in each specific context (national, subnational, or local) with the aim of designing specific activities and interventions to eliminate these problems or mitigate their effects both during and after implementation.



5. Recommendations and strategies to respond to the needs of groups in situations of vulnerability in the context of COVID-19

Based on the identification of adverse effects and barriers in the context of COVID-19, and the population groups and territories in situations of vulnerability, a number of strategies and recommendations have been formulated to address situations of inequity. These recommendations focus on groups and territories in situations of vulnerability and correspond to each proposed non pharmacological public health measure.

First, the barriers and adverse effects associated with the non-pharmacological public health measures included in this guide are described, together with their effects on population groups in situations of vulnerability.

Afterwards, the main recommendations and strategies for adapting and implementing the measures are described (15), including potential policies and actions to eliminate the barriers and mitigate the adverse effects.

The selected non-pharmacological public health measures are:

- a) Individual quarantine of cases and contacts
- b) Home confinement

- c) Closure of nonessential workplaces and businesses
- d) School closures
- e) Congregate facilities (nursing homes, quarantine centers, penitentiaries, extended-stay facilities, shelters, etc.): E.1. Extended-stay facilities E.2. Facilities for confinement under judicial remand
- **f)** Restrictions on gatherings and mass events (cultural, sports, social, religious, and political events)
- g) Transit restrictions
- h) Handwashing with water and soap
- i) Territorial management of public health measures
- j) Special considerations for the continuity of essential services (markets and other workplaces that provide essential services¹⁰)

To offer a complete vision of the strategies and actions that must be implemented in connection with each non-pharmacological public health measure, some of the recommendations and strategies will be repeated because they are applicable to different measures.

¹⁰ Health services are not included, as this topic has been extensively explored in other documents.

Cross-cutting recommendations to complement each public health measure are also included, such as:

- 1. Risk communication
- 2. Social and community participation
- 3. Human rights
- 4. Monitoring and evaluation

Strategies and recommendations for implementation of non-pharmacological public health measures

Some of the structural recommendations are common to the entire set of measures. These policies, programs, and actions are essential for responding to the COVID-19 pandemic and preventing a future pandemic from producing economic and social consequences of the magnitude we are experiencing with COVID-19. Four of the key structural recommendations concerning the right to health, social protection, work, and water are to:

- Guarantee universal access to health and universal health coverage for the entire population. To accomplish this, it is essential to raise public investment in health to at least 6% of national GDP and to make the primary health care strategy the basic priority (4, 94, 95).
- Extend social protection to the entire population. This will require increasing the coverage of existing programs, with special attention to groups in situations of vulnerability (e.g., informal workers and migrants) (4, 6, 7, 8, 96, 97).
- 3. Increase and improve unemployment insurance coverage, extending it to the majority of the work-ing population and their families (4, 6, 8, 96, 98).

4. Expand the water distribution network, providing free water to groups that cannot pay for it, and facilitate the construction of rainwater catchment systems and the use of other technologies that increase access to water (99). This must be done in order to guarantee a minimum daily volume of clean water for all households in situations of vulnerability that are not connected to the water supply system (99).

Each non-pharmacological public health measure, with its respective barriers, adverse effects, and recommendations, is presented below.



A. Individual quarantine of cases and contacts

IMPLEMENTATION BARRIERS AND ADVERSE EFFECTS	POPULATION GROUPS IN SITUATIONS OF VULNERABILITY
Material housing conditions	The population groups most
It is problematic to impose individual isolation and quarantine of cases and their contacts in dwellings with limited space/overcrowding ¹¹ and limited access to water for handwashing. This situation is especially serious in households with people at high risk for COVID-19.	affected are those living subs- tandard housing (19) or infor- mal settlements (102) or camps.
Social protection	
Quarantine often means absence from work (4), in many cases with no sick leave, only a few days of sick leave, or partial remuneration for formal workers, signifying a loss of income (35). Informal workers have no social security or unemployment insurance coverage, and thus, no right to sick leave (100).	
Cultural relevance	
Physical isolation measures restrict the cultural practices of certain communities and, in the case of indi- genous peoples, their ancestral practices, (101) thus reducing compliance with the measures.	
Access and continuity of health care	
Quarantine results in social isolation, which can exacerbate the situation of people with mental disorders. At the same time, the continuity of care for people who require regular check-ups for chronic disease, ongoing treatment, or a disability can also be affected.	
Psychosocial risk	
The physical isolation, fear, and uncertainty caused by the pandemic results in stress and tension in cases, contacts, and families.	
• Human rights	
The fear and uncertainty caused by the pandemic can lead to social exclusion and discrimination against infected people and their close contacts and can result in violations of the rights of these individuals.	

RECOMMENDATIONS

Action prior to or immediately after implementation of the measure

- 1. Guarantee a safe distance of one meter between cases and their close contacts, good ventilation in the home, use of masks, and adequate isolation, as well as information and support (103, 104). For people in conditions unsuitable for isolation in the home or who live with high-risk family members, alternative residential facilities should be set up that provide food, water, hygiene products, and other basic articles so that cases and their contacts remain in isolation for the required period (14, 103, 105, 106).
- 2. Improve household hygiene and disinfection following the recommendations, and offer alternatives when soap is unavailable (103, 107, 108).
- 3. Provide food, water, hygiene and disinfection products, and other basic articles for cases and their contacts during the isolation and quarantine period (103, 109).
- 4. Ensure the continuity of treatments and medical exams for people with chronic diseases, especially those whose treatment is critical—for example, oncology services (110). Health checks should also be provided for quarantined cases and their close contacts at home or in alternative residences through home visits or remote consultations (87, 111).
- 5. Provide support in indigenous communities through the establishment of community facilities for the isolation of COVID-19-positive cases, suspected cases, and their contacts, in keeping with the local situation and culture (78, 112).
- 6. Guarantee income during sick leave or preventive quarantine through existing protection systems and emergency mechanisms (4, 8, 95, 98).

B. Home confinement

11 Overcrowding is considered to be any situation in which more than 2.5 or 3 people share a room or a limited amount of square footage.

IMPLEMENTATION BARRIERS AND ADVERSE EFFECTS

Material living conditions, including neighborhood infrastructure

Substandard housing poses obstacles to physical distancing, especially in informal settlements, due to high levels of overcrowding¹² (3, 113, 114) in dwellings. The same holds true for slums and the neighborhoods where these dwellings are located, since the few open public spaces and public services are rapidly saturated by local residents (102, 115).

Income and employment

Home confinement can lead to the loss of employment or income for people who cannot work from home (26). This can lead to poverty or impoverishment, which, in turn, becomes a barrier to the sustainability of the measures (6, 20, 96, 100, 116).

Social protection

Lack of support or absent or limited social protection are a barrier to the implementation of home confinement measures, because people must leave their home to look for work despite the restrictions, especially those in the informal economy (4, 42, 117, 118).

Cultural relevance

The measures' lack of cultural relevance is a barrier to maintaining physical distancing and home confinement. There may be lack of acceptance because the measures fail to acknowledge the idiosyncrasies, language, territoriality, and world view of different communities—for example, indigenous communities (78, 119).

Healthy environments

Home confinement creates an unhealthy environment, since it hinders physical exercise, use of recreational facilities, and access to healthy food, and undermines healthy eating habits, resulting in an increase in alcohol, tobacco, and drug use. This situation can trigger family conflicts or heighten the risk of domestic violence against women, children, adolescents, and older persons.

Psychosocial risk

Home confinement increases psychosocial risk (120), especially in dwellings with limited physical space. This is compounded by the additional burden of care created by school closures and uncertainty about the course of the pandemic, leading to high levels of tension and stress in the population. Another effect is social isolation, which is critical in populations with limited or nonexistent social support networks and a high dependency on third parties. This is the case of persons with disabilities and single person house-holds (often older persons) (121). Another effect on children that should be noted is the social impact of restrictions on movement and physical distancing, limiting their right to play and relax with other children. This has major implications for their psychosocial development (122). At the collective level, adverse psychosocial conditions (123) could result in the destruction or weakening of social cohesion, exacerbating discrimination and exclusion, particularly impacting social groups in situations of vulnerability.

• Gender inequity and the burden of care

The adverse effects of home confinement are compounded by the additional burden of care created by school closures—a burden that nearly always falls on women—in addition to the loss of independence that accompanies the loss of work and income (124).

• Delivery of services and basic supplies

Home confinement can result in limited food availability and poor-quality food. This is compounded by the interruption of basic utilities such as electricity, water, and heating due to the non-payment of bills caused by loss of income. Evictions have occurred when rent is not paid, especially affecting migrants and their families.

POPULATION GROUPS IN SITUATIONS OF VULNERABILITY

Populations living in makeshift informal settlements (50, 102) with high levels of overcrowding.

Workers who cannot work from home and lose their job because they are fired or the business closes, as well as self employed persons.

Workers in the informal economy (96, 117) or employed in poorly paid essential services, migrant workers (20, 127) and their families.

Working women heads of household (128, 129) with children to care for, women of all ages, children, and adolescents living in situations of violence (130) or great adversity (131).

Persons with disabilities (132) and people requiring third-party care, such as older persons, among others.

People residing in single-person households and remote rural territories.

The homeless population and street people.

Continue >>

¹² Overcrowding is considered to be any situation in which more than 2.5 or 3 people share a room or a limited amount of square footage.

IMPLEMENTATION BARRIERS AND ADVERSE EFFECTS	POPULATION GROUPS IN SITUATIONS OF VULNERABILITY
Health care access and continuity	
Access to health services is affected by restricted availability, with an impact on continuity of care (e.g., health checks). In addition, patients with acute and chronic pathologies (125) delay seeking medical care for fear of infection (126). Postponement of the search for essential care is especially troubling in the case of sexual violence.	
In the short and medium term, the barriers and adverse effects associated with this measure will lead to mental health problems and increased severity of anxiety and depressive disorders. This impact also will be felt in the areas of noncommunicable chronic diseases, such as cardiovascular disorders and malnutrition, and alcohol and tobacco use (4).	
Human rights	
Home confinement restricts people's rights, especially freedom of movement. If these measures are sud- denly imposed without offering sufficient information and ensuring cultural relevance, they can lead to rights abuses and violations, especially in groups with limited power, such as indigenous and Afro des- cendant populations already living in adverse conditions (for example, informal settlements and camps).	

RECOMMENDATIONS

Actions prior to or immediately following implementation of the measure

- 1. Guarantee the supply of essential goods, including healthy food and hygiene products, and consider strengthening support systems through networks of neighbors, community volunteers, municipal personnel, food delivery systems, etc. (4, 96)
- 2. Facilitate measures to adapt homes so as to ensure physical distancing. For example, prioritize alternative spaces for the high-risk population, provide adequate ventilation, separate beds, etc. (103, 108, 133)
- 3. Create temporary residences (shelters) for homeless people or people unable to isolate at home, and facilitate the monitoring of basic prevention measures, including frequent handwashing with water and soap and sanitation in these centers (134-137).
- 4. Provide preventive solutions in dwellings, tailoring them to the national and local cultural context to ensure their acceptance by the entire population. These solutions include ventilation, cleaning, and disinfection, especially for housing in indigenous communities (houses, tambos, malocas, rancherías, community council rooms, quilombos, kumpanias, etc.) (78, 112, 138).
- 5. Authorize measures and residences that facilitate safe departure from the home for people seeking help or at risk of violence (98, 139, 140).
- 6. Improve dissemination and monitoring of the standards and regulations governing the control of alcohol and weapons sales, as well as drug-dealing practices and locations (98, 139, 140).
- 7. Limit entry of outsiders to indigenous territories and help indigenous communities remain in their territories by guaranteeing the availability of essential supplies (78, 30, 112).
- 8. Provide free health care to informal workers and their families, as well as people who have lost their jobs and associated health insurance as a result of the pandemic (4, 94, 95, 96, 98, 141-143).
- 9. Facilitate healthy settings by promoting physical activity and good nutrition on television, radio, and online (144-146).

Short-term actions

- 1. Prevent the social isolation of people living alone through call systems, home visits, and support from networks of neighbors, community volunteers, municipal personnel, etc. (102, 147, 148).
- 2. Provide stress management and mental health information and recommendations tailored to the situation of populations, setting up emergency telephone hotlines, mass media, networks of community psychologists, and telehealth and telemedicine services (147, 149, 190).
- 3. Ensure the continuity of medical care for patients with chronic diseases through home visits and follow-up calls, as well as the provision of medicines (150-152).
- 4. Support mothers, fathers, and caregivers through tools that support healthy parenting in the context of teleworking or teleschooling (153).
- 5. Set up a system for monitoring families at risk of domestic abuse and violence, facilitating access to abuse emergency key codes and strengthening community networks and support (98, 139, 140).
- 6. Guarantee that survivors of violence (including older persons and children) have access to social services and free helplines, including telephone and text messages, chats, or silent calls (98, 139, 140, 154).
- 7. Waive or subsidize payments for public utilities such as water, electricity, and heating to guarantee the basic conditions for implementing the measures (8).
- 8. Provide rent support, including installment options; do not raise rents; and suspend evictions (6, 95).
- Establish an emergency basic income equivalent to the poverty line for six months for the entire population living in poverty in 2020. This would imply an additional cost of 2.0% of GDP. This income would make it possible to maintain consumption and meet basic needs, promoting compliance with social distancing and quarantine measures (6).
- 10. Provide support against hunger to keep the pandemic from leading to a food crisis. This could take the form of money transfers, food baskets, or food vouchers for the entire population living in extreme poverty for a six-month period. (6, 95, 96).

C. Closure of nonessential workplaces and businesses

IMPLEMENTATION BARRIERS AND ADVERSE EFFECTS

Income and employment

This measure has had a direct impact on the loss or reduction of workers' income. Many jobs have been lost due to the closure or bankruptcy of businesses, especially micro-, small- and medium-sized enterprises (MSME), which account for 99% of all businesses in the region and create more than half the jobs (4, 155). This measure has also affected the working situations of people who can telework; this remote work modality reduces the direct financial impact of company closures but entails other problems: it increases inequalities among workers, since six out of every 10 households in the bottom income quintile do not have an internet connection fast enough for work and studies (26, 57, 156).

Social protection

Workers and their families have lost their health coverage and other benefits (such as health insurance, check-ups for occupational diseases, income associated with preventive leave or sick leave, etc.) or have seen them reduced (100). This loss may be because these services were linked to their employment or the inability to pay. This situation is exacerbated by the fact that the vast majority of workers do not qualify for unemployment insurance, or the benefits are very limited, resulting in lost income (6).

Psychosocial risk and setting

Workers who switch to teleworking have found themselves lacking the necessary competencies, tools, and conditions at home, added to the care that they have had to provide due to school closures (157). This additional burden creates tension and stress in the home, resulting in a potential increase in unheal-thy behaviors such as alcohol use (120, 158, 159).

• Gender inequity and burden of care

Continuing tele-schooling imposes an additional burden of care that falls largely to women, increasing tension in the home, particularly among working women or fathers responsible for caring for the children (124).

• Provision of services and basic supplies

The availability of services and supplies has been limited by the closure of businesses, resulting in a greater need for mobility to obtain provisions, as well as price increases in many cases.

POPULATION GROUPS IN SITUATIONS OF VULNERABILITY

The populations likely to be most affected are workers with precarious contracts, workers with low qualifications for teleworking, workers without social protection (informal workers), people who have lost their job, migrants, refugees, etc.

In the Region, Only 15% of poor workers and 25% of workers in situations of vulnerability in the Region have access to a computer with an internet connection in their home, and only around 10% of workers have a medium or high level of computer skills and problem-solving capabilities in technology-rich environments (160).

RECOMMENDATIONS

Actions prior to or immediately following implementation of the measure

- 1. Facilitate internet and computer access to create suitable conditions for teleworking whenever the type of work and job permits it (161, 162).
- 2. Adopt measures to maintain employment and limit mass layoffs (161).
- 3. Provide free health care for informal workers and their families, as well as people who lose their jobs and associated health insurance.
- 4. Establish paid occupational sick leave (workers compensation) if COVID-19 is contracted in the workplace, and in cases of preventive quarantine.
- 5. Introduce supplementary measures such as cash subsidies and basic goods for workers who lose their job and income, especially for informal workers and their families (6).
- 6. Guarantee the supply of basic goods (healthy foods, hygiene products, and essential medicines).

Short-term actions

- 1. Expand social protection, increasing the coverage of existing programs (horizontal) or the amount or duration of the benefits (vertical) to compensate for the loss of income in the population, particularly among groups in situations of vulnerability.
- 2. Provide inclusive unemployment benefits for an adequate period for workers who have lost their jobs.
- 3. Provide information and recommendations on stress management and mental health tailored to the situation of groups in situations of vulnerability, addressing family life, the burden of caring for others, teleworking, and other issues.
- 4. Increase access to telephone hotlines to meet mental health needs (147, 149).
- 5. Waive or subsidize payments for public utilities such as water, electricity, and heating to guarantee the basic conditions for implementing the measures (8).
- 6. Provide rent support, including installment options; do not raise rents; and suspend evictions (6, 95).

AQUI VOCÊ ESTÁ A UMA

DISTÂNCIA SEGURA.

D. School closures

IMPLEMENTATION BARRIERS AND ADVERSE EFFECTS

Education and learning

School closures interrupt the continuity of education (163), widening the education gap between social classes (7, 164) because part of the population lacks the necessary tools for distance learning (computers, Internet access, etc.) (254). Furthermore, low-income children and adolescents do not receive adequate support from teachers or from family members whose competencies are for the most part limited (100). It should also be noted that using virtual technologies as alternative learning methods can engender new types of violence, such as cyberbullying (139, 165).

Psychosocial risk and environment

Closing schools, which normally serve as protection against violence, increases the risk of violence (166, 167). Care and support for home schooling create an additional burden of care for parents, especially women, increasing stress in the household and family tensions. This can trigger dysfunctional behaviors and increase the risk of domestic violence.

School closures lead to a lack of structure and stimulation for children, resulting in fewer opportunities to obtain social support for mental well-being (120). Furthermore, children who experience extreme deprivation can endure acute stress, impairing their cognitive development and resulting in mental health problems in the long term (168, 122).

· Gender inequity and the burden of care

Care and support for home schooling create an additional burden of care that usually falls to women, increasing tension in the home, especially among working women or fathers who assume the responsibility of caring for the children (124).

Provision of basic services and supplies

School closings result in the suspension of certain social support services – for example, the provision of food (169), psychosocial support and other protection, and health programs (170, 182).

RECOMMENDATIONS

Action prior to and immediately after implementation of the measure

- 1. Facilitate the provision of food outside schools, replacing school breakfasts and school food (97, 172, 173, 174).
- 2. Support families and schools, providing them with tools for distance learning (connectivity, equipment, etc.) (172, 175, 176)
- 3. Propose alternative forms of learning (e.g., distance learning, guidance from library staff or older siblings, or networks of telephone friends) (101, 175, 177, 178).
- 4. Facilitate the continuity of school psychosocial support programs through telephone or virtual follow-up, and implement strategies to prevent cyberbullying (139, 167, 179, 180).
- 5. Promote measures to help workers with care responsibilities harmonize them with their paid work. For example, create and maintain opportunities for alternative care, such as daycare centers or schools that practice hygiene and strict physical distancing for the children of essential workers, depending on the phase of the pandemic (124, 101, 172).
- 6. Create virtual forums for dialogue with parents, teachers, and students to discuss the options available after school closures in terms of school programs, home schooling, care, etc. (172).

Short-term actions

- 1. Upgrade the competencies of teachers and schools, providing the technical support they need to develop learning strategies that consider the socioeconomic situation of students (177).
- 2. Target and channel support to children in situations of vulnerability due to abuse, neglect, violence, etc., including children with disabilities (98, 122, 139).
- 3. Provide information, recommendations, and options for managing stress and promoting the mental health of children and their families tailored to the situation of groups in situations of vulnerability (120, 181, 182).
- 4. Provide support for achieving equitable distribution of the burden of care between men and women, raising awareness through campaigns promoting the participation of boys and adult men to ensure that they are doing their part in shouldering household chores (183).

POPULATION GROUPS IN SITUATIONS OF VULNERABILITY

The population groups most affected by this measure are 171 million students (100) and their families. Children in precarious social and economic conditions are especially affected, since it is estimated that less than 30% of households in situations of vulnerability in Latin America have access to a computer (171).

Some 85 million children in the region who receive a school breakfast, snack, or lunch would be especially affected (169).

Parents, especially mothers, and children at risk of violence.

Students with disabilities (101).

E. Enclosed facilities (nursing homes, quarantine centers, penitentiaries, extended-stay facilities, shelters, etc.)

E.1. Extended-stay facilities

IMPLEMENTATION BARRIERS AND ADVERSE EFFECTS

· Physical living conditions in the facilities

The insecure and overcrowded situations of extended-stay facilities are a barrier to the implementation of physical distancing measures and handwashing with water and soap (3, 14, 115).

Psychosocial risk and environment

The absence of contact with family and support networks favors physical distancing but results in greater isolation, leading to an increase in abuse, violence, and mental health disorders such as stress, anxiety, and depression.

Health care access and continuity

Extended-stay centers such as nursing homes and child care centers are not connected with the public health network or health services, creating an access barrier to treatment, monitoring, tracing, and the isolation of cases in these facilities. This situation increases the risk of infection both for residents and essential workers.

Human rights

The measures have restricted people's rights, particularly those of people in extended-stay facilities where physical distancing is hard to maintain and family visits are limited. Non-pharmacological public health measures can lead to abuse and rights violations, especially in population groups with greater privation and limited opportunity to exercise their power, such as older persons, persons with disabilities, children, etc. (184, 185).

POPULATION GROUPS IN SITUATIONS OF VULNERABILITY

Residents in extended-stay facilities (186), such as older persons, are likely to be those most affected by this measure. For example, in the United States 4.5% of older persons (nearly 1.5 million people) live in nursing homes (187).

Persons with disabilities or under non-parental care (for example, court-ordered care), including children and adolescents.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Action prior to and immediately following implementation of the measure

- 1. Identify children in situations of vulnerability due to mistreatment, abuse, or overcrowding, and provide support (136, 188).
- 2. Introduce and ensure physical distancing in these institutions (136, 189).
- 3. Facilitate frequent handwashing with water and soap and regularly disinfect the facility (136, 190, 191).
- 4. Restrict visits and provide alternative contact methods, such as telephone calls or video conferences with families and close relatives (136).
- 5. Educate the staff of nursing and retirement homes and extended-stay facilities, as well as their residents, about the importance of personal protective measures and physical distancing, with special emphasis on older persons, given their higher risk of death (136, 191).
- 6. Develop rapid procedures for returning people under alternative care (children, persons with disabilities) to their families and communities. Their reintegration should be a priority whenever feasible (101, 136, 184, 185, 188).

Short-term actions

- 1. Ensure that extended-stay facilities for older persons have policies and procedures in place to respond to violence (136, 139).
- 2. Improve psychological support for residents of extended-stay facilities (136, 188, 191).
- 3. Offer guidance to asylums, shelters, and other institutions to facilitate ongoing support for violence survivors and individuals at risk (192).

E.2. Enclosed facilities under judicial authority

IMPLEMENTATION BARRIERS AND ADVERSE EFFECTS	POPULATION GROUPS IN SITUATIONS OF VULNERABILITY			
Physical living conditions, including infrastructure	The most affected people are			
Precarious conditions and overcrowding in enclosed facilities under judicial authority are a barrier to the implementation of physical distancing measures and handwashing with water and soap (100).	inmates in prisons and deten- tion centers (186) (migrants, re- fugees, indigenous population, etc.). An estimated 1.7 million			
Cultural relevance				
Lack of cultural relevance and respect for ancestral ceremonies and rites (193), the absence of interpreters at these centers, and the failure to translate prevention messages into the respective languages are barriers to proper implementation of the measures.	people (196) live in these cen- ters, with 200% occupancy in Latin America (67).			
Psychosocial risk				
The absence of contact with family and support networks results in greater isolation and vulnerability to abuse, violence, and mental health disorders. Furthermore, support channels and mental health monitoring are lacking. ¹³				
Access and continuity of health care				
The fact that penitentiaries are often not linked with the public health network creates a barrier to access, treatment, moni- toring, tracing, and the isolation of cases in these institutions, increasing the risk of infection for both inmates and essential workers.				
• Human rights				
The measures have restricted people's rights, especially those of inmates living in facilities under judicial authority, with har- sh conditions, problems maintaining physical distancing, restricted family and attorney visits, and limited screening, testing, and isolation of cases, all of which can heighten abuse and rights violations. People awaiting judicial sentencing, as well as detainees in immigration centers, who are confined in close quarters under substandard conditions, are also affected (68, 194). Finally, it is important to highlight the situation of indigenous populations in facilities under judicial authority, who experience discrimination when seeking health care (195).				

RECOMMENDATIONS

Actions prior to and immediately following implementation of the measure.

- 1. Introduce and ensure physical distancing in activities in these institutions.
- 2. Facilitate frequent handwashing with water and soap and regularly disinfect the facility (197).
- 3. Restrict visits and provide alternative means of contact, such as telephone calls or video conferences with family and close friends, as well as attorneys (66).
- 4. Educate staff and inmates about the importance of personal protective measures and physical distancing, with special emphasis on older persons, given their higher risk of death (66).
- 5. Improve psychological support for inmates, both adults and young people (136).

Short-term actions

- 1. Reduce the prison population and provide alternatives to imprisonment for inmates who have committed minor and non violent offenses, those who have almost served out their sentence, and those in preventive or administrative detention¹⁴. Special care should be provided for older persons or persons with chronic or respiratory diseases, guaranteeing their human rights (67, 198, 67).
- 2. Seek alternative solutions for people detained for immigrating or because of their immigration status, guaranteeing their human rights (66).
- 3. Ensure that penitentiaries have policies and procedures in place to respond to violence (136).

¹³ There is a higher incidence of mental health disorders in prisons, where up to nine out of ten inmates may be affected. These individuals are four to six times more likely than the general population to suffer from psychosis and severe depression and have a 10 times higher probability of suffering from a personality disorder. Sources: Andersen HS. Mental Health in Prison Populations. A review—with special emphasis on a study of Danish prisoners on remand. Proceedings Psychiatr Scand: 110 (Suppl. 424): 5-59; 2004; Saavedra J, López, J. Riesgo de suicidio de hombres internos con condena en centros penitenciarios. Rev Psiquiatr Salud Men; 2013; Mundt A, Alvarado R, Fritsch R, Poblete C, Villagra C, Kastner S, Priebe S. Prevalence Rates of Mental Disorders in Chilean Prisons. PLOS One. 8(7): e69109; 2013; Brugha T, Singleton N, Bebbington P, Farrell M, Coid J, Fryers T, Melzer D, Lewis G. Psychosis in the Community and in Prisons: A Report From the British National Survey of Psychiatric Morbidity. American Journal of Psychiatry. 162:774-780; 2005.

¹⁴ This group constitutes 37% of prisoners in Latin America and the Caribbean. Source: Vivanco JM, Acebes CM. Cómo evitar que las cárceles de América Latina se conviertan en una incubadora del coronavirus. The New York Times; 2020. Available from: https://www.nytimes.com/es/2020/05/21/espanol/opinion/prisiones-covid.html.
F. Restrictions on gatherings and mass events (cultural, sports, social, religious, and political events)

IMPLEMENTATION BARRIERS AND ADVERSE EFFECTS	POPULATION GROUPS IN SITUATIONS OF VULNERABILITY
 Cultural relevance The interruption of religious activities, practices, or ancestral rites that encourage gatherings is a barrier to implementing this measure because of the need to continue community customs and celebrations. In the case of ancestral rites, this measure can affect a community in a number of ways, including its sense of identity and social cohesion. Psychosocial risk and environment Suspending cultural activities can cause a deterioration in emotional well-being and weaken social networks and social cohesion. Furthermore, closing sports and cultural venues leads to a reduction in physical activity which, coupled with confinement, results in an increase in unhealthy behaviors (14). Furthermore, in the case of funerals, where, in addition to mourning the loss of a loved one, traditional farewell rituals cannot be followed, an increase in the prevalence of depression has been observed in the population. Income and employment The imposed restrictions have hindered cultural, political, religious, and sports, and recreational activities in parks. This has had a significant impact on workers in the arts, who have experienced a major loss of employment and income (26, 199). 	The people most affected are those who reside in neighbor- hoods without recreational activities or spaces, religious people who regularly attend services; indigenous popula- tions who perform ancestral ri- tes and ceremonies; and groups that participate in the cultural celebrations of their communi- ty, town, or country.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Actions prior to and immediately following implementation of the measure

- 1. Promote healthy living conditions by promoting physical activity and healthy nutrition through media such as television, radio, the internet, etc.
- 2. Conduct spiritual practices or rites virtually through different media (television, radio, internet) and include persons with disabilities (200).
- 3. Facilitate the dissemination of cultural content and virtual alternatives for cultural, social, and religious events through the media and social networks (199, 201).

Short-term actions

1. Facilitate access by workers in the country's arts and culture industry, and their families, to healthy food, medicines, and basic services such as water, electricity, sanitation, and internet, and generate cultural and recreational content through alternative media (199).

G. Restrictions on public transit

IMPLEMENTATION BARRIERS AND ADVERSE EFFECTS	POPULATION GROUPS IN SITUATIONS OF VULNERABILITY
 Income and employment Limiting the mobility of essential and informal workers can result in the loss of employment and income if they cannot get to work. Provision of services and basic supplies 	
Transit restrictions have made it difficult to travel to essential workplaces such as supermarkets, phar- macies, hospitals, etc. Furthermore, people living in areas far from their workplace who lack their own means of transportation spend a great deal of time on public transportation, with the consequent risk of exposure and infection due to enclosed spaces and inadequate ventilation (202, 203).	
At the same time, the limited availability of mass transit means that buses and/or trains can become over- crowded, as can associated public areas such as bus stops, ticket offices, etc., which become areas of crowding and transmission (202, 203).	
Some cities have witnessed an increase in the use of informal transportation, where safety and hygiene measures are less likely to be observed and there is less control (204).	
Health care access and continuity.	
This measure makes it hard to reach health services, including for health workers.	

RECOMMENDATIONS

Actions prior to and immediately following implementation of the measure

- 1. Prioritize continuity of the transportation routes used by groups in situations of vulnerability, especially in the more remote areas (205).
- 2. Ensure that safe transit¹⁵ is available for people who need to go to work and require access to essential services (204, 206-208).
- 3. Facilitate physical distancing in critical spaces associated with public transportation, as such as bus stops, train stations, pedestrian walkways, and the vehicles themselves (buses, metro, trains, etc.) (209, 210).
- 4. Reduce the time spent on public transportation (to not more than 30 minutes), limit the number of passengers, and ensure adequate ventilation of the vehicles to help reduce infection (204, 210).
- 5. Facilitate payment by means other than cash (204).
- 6. Facilitate options for handwashing and regular hygiene in bus stations, metros, and trains, guaranteeing access for persons with disabilities (101, 203, 205, 211).
- 7. Issue clear messages and facilitate compliance with physical distancing and personal protective measures (206, 212).

Short-term actions

- 1. Facilitate and promote dialogue with the community to identify the areas with the greatest need for public transportation and priority routes (213).
- 2. Facilitate access to and the use of other modes of transportation and mobility, widening bicycle lanes and facilitating pedestrian traffic, for example (204, 205, 214).

¹⁵ That employs COVID-19 disinfection and hygiene measures.

H. Handwashing with water and soap

IMPLEMENTATION BARRIERS	POPULATION GROUPS IN SITUATIONS OF VULNERABILITY	
 Material living conditions, including neighborhood and household infrastructure The main barrier to frequent proper handwashing is the absence or limited availability of water in houses, territories, and public areas (102, 207). This may be due to a lack of a water supply network in neighborhoods and dwellings (availability); inability to pay for the service (financing); water shortages in the territory (drought); or absence of public sinks or adapted facilities for persons with disabilities (access) (101, 215). Another implementation barrier is that not all people have access to soap or an alternative product (30). Cultural relevance The lack of socially and culturally relevant messages on handwashing with water and soap and the lack of alternatives constitute a barrier to both the implementation of this measure and compliance. This is the case for population groups that lack water and communities whose custom is to use alternative products instead of soap (78). 	An estimated 64 million people in the region still lack basic fa- cilities in the home for washing their hands with water and soap (216). The people most affected by this measure are those living in informal settlements, remo- te rural areas, drought-stricken areas, substandard dwellings, or who are homeless, as well as low-income population groups, persons with disabilities (101) and indigenous populations in their communities.	
RECOMMENDATIONS		
Action prior to and immediately following implementation of the measure 1. Guarantee a minimum daily volume of drinking water for all households in situations of vulnerability curply action through uncompositional colutions (a.g., the distribution of water to homes at to spec		

- supply system through unconventional solutions (e.g., the distribution of water to homes or to specific points in the community, water tankers, water kiosks, etc.), always ensuring physical distancing (water access points separated at least by 1 m) (104).
- 2. Guarantee the accessibility and availability of water in households, neighborhoods, and territories, providing information and guidance on alternative forms of water capture (99, 101, 207, 217).
- 3. Establish basic vital water consumption for families free of charge, anticipating an increase in water use due to better hygiene and the confinement of many people in their homes (99, 217).
- 4. Provide free hand-washing stations with clean water and soap for the entire population in all public spaces and at critical points, guaranteeing access for persons with disabilities (99, 217).

Short-term actions

1. Facilitate provision of water (e.g., by water trucks) and ensure water supply in cases of non-payment (99).



I. Management of public health measures at the local level

Many of the problems affecting populations in situations of vulnerability are found at the local level—for example, in informal urban settlements, urban areas with high population density, remote rural areas, and indigenous territories (51). These situations have a significant impact on the proper implementation of public health measures.

Problems at the local level include a lack of a regular water supply, limited green space, risk of crowding, and limited availability of and access to essential services (health services, healthy food, hygiene and disinfection products, etc.), and other support services. Local governments play a key role (218) in coordinating and supporting organized communities through community leaders, civil society organizations, and other groups.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Local management and planning

- 1. Adopt strategies for micromanaging public areas, especially at points of access to public and recreational services, and in particular, during periods of voluntary confinement and during the gradual easing of the measures (207, 104, 219, 220).
- 2. Create a one-way pedestrian walkway system, with markers on the ground and physical barriers in public settings to facilitate physical distancing (207, 104).
- 3. Establish local containment lines and quarantine areas in high-risk neighborhoods, guaranteeing the provision of essential supplies (food, medicines, basic services, etc.) (106, 221, 222).
- 4. Design strategies for the safe delivery of supplies and services (e.g., public health corridors) (222, 223).
- 5. Establish different time schedules for accessing public services and community provisions to prevent gatherings, whenever the context permits (104, 224).

Basic and community services

- 1. Prioritize the provision of basic services, including water, and guarantee the availability of services in informal settlements (99, 104, 207, 225)
- 2. Install and guarantee the availability of public handwashing facilities in places where sufficient access to water is limited (95, 99, 207).
- 3. Guarantee access to mental health and psychosocial support services, including on-site services, emergency telephone hotlines, and other remote options, and disseminate key information on resilience strategies (120, 147, 104).

Community participation

- 1. Facilitate local dialogue to identify and designate appropriate sites or spaces in the community for quarantine, isolation, and the care of cases, reorganizing facilities with adequate infrastructure (water and sanitation, bathrooms, electricity, and ventilation) (226).
- 2. Facilitate local dialogue with communities and include the indigenous population, persons with disabilities, women, young people, etc. (78, 101, 227).



J. Special considerations for essential workers and the continuity of the services they provide¹⁶

Ensuring the continuity of activities linked to essential services means that some workers and their families are exposed to a greater risk of infection. The situation is especially concerning for those essential workers who are in direct contact with people infected with COVID-19 (228), who also have precarious contracts without social protection or the right to sick leave, and who live in precarious conditions without space for physical isolation in the home. Many essential workers can be found in businesses where public health measures are not properly observed. This situation is even more critical in the case of migrant or undocumented workers.

For example, food production and sales (e.g., wholesale markets and food markets) is a major focus of SARS-CoV-2 infection, and epidemic outbreaks with high infection and case-fatality levels that have been documented (229-231). This may be due to the fact that venues where food is sold and eaten are places where physical distancing, disinfection, and frequent handwashing are often difficult. The very nature of these venues, as well as the culture of the buyers and the public at large leads to crowding (232-234). Frequent visits to these markets is often due to poverty: many customers do not have refrigerators at home. Outbreaks in the food production and processing chain have also been documented - for example, in meat packing plants and farms, largely among migrant workers who harvest the crops (228, 235).

Regarding the continuity of essential services, the general recommendation is to follow the specific guidelines developed by PAHO and WHO, governments, health centers, and hospitals (236-238).

RECOMMENDATIONS

For essential workers

- 1. Merchants in the risk group established by the ministry of health (people over the age of 65, patients with chronic diseases or those who are immunosuppressed) should refrain from working at markets in their districts, municipalities, towns, etc., or at least, refrain from serving the public (239).
- 2. Strengthen and follow the occupational health and safety guidelines using the hierarchy of controls (240-242).¹⁷
- 3. Guarantee the provision of personal protective equipment (240-243).
- 4. Guarantee cleanliness and hygiene in essential workplaces (240-243).
- 5. Introduce physical distancing, frequent disinfection, and use of personal protective measures in workplaces (211, 240).
- 6. Ensure f sick leave policies for workers.
- 7. Create opportunities for dialogue with essential workers, including unions, to learn about their concerns and needs in order to ensure the continuity of their work (240).
- 8. Designate an isolated space in the home to enable essential workers to minimize the risk of infecting their family, or open residences for essential workers with high-risk family members (236).

Burden of care on essential workers

- 1. Provide additional support for essential workers, especially female health workers, to care for their children (due to school closures) and other dependents (98).
- 2. Distribute the burden of care among the different members of the household (98, 183).

For the customers of markets and other food vending locations

- 1. Take administrative steps to limit the number of people in the facility, through appointments, home delivery, schedules that designate specific hours for high-risk groups, etc. (219, 232, 244)
- 2. Facilitate physical distancing at market entrances and in aisles, etc. (219).
- 3. Facilitate the use of alternative modes of payment, limiting the use of cash.
- 4. Facilitate options for regular handwashing and hygiene in facilities, with a view to providing access for persons with disabilities (233, 234).
- 5. Issue clear messages and facilitate the observance of physical distancing and personal protection.
- 6. Prevent customers from directly handling products (prepackaged bags, direct contact with the supplier, protection with plastic, prepackaged boxes for certain products - for example, a weekly basic basket) (239, 245).

CIDENERIC LEVICES OF INCOMENTATION CONTRACTOR OF INCOMENTS IN THE AND A CONTRACTOR OF A CONTRACTOR documentos-tecnicos-ops-enfermedad-por-coronavirus-covid-19#servicios-salud.

When implementing the recommendations, it is essential to guarantee community participation in decision-mak-The hierarchy of controls aims to provide a systematic approach to increase occupational safety and health, eliminate hazards, and reduce or control al safety and health risks. The hierarchy includes the following phases, in descending order of effectiveness: elimination of risk, substitution, over the same state of the same the following phases, in descending order of effectiveness: elimination of risk, substitution, over the same state of ple_Infectiones_COVID-19_Washington_D_C_PAHO: Available from: ple_Infectiones_COVID-19_Washington_D_C_PAHO: Available from: ple_Infectiones_COVID-19_Washingtones_CovId-19_Pano-stemplick-prevenceon-control-Infecciones_CO20-04-

16&category_slug=presentaciones&Itemid=624.

plementation. For this to happen, it is essential to couple these measures with a risk communication strategy that takes into consideration the context and the population's social, economic, and cultural situation.

a. Recommendations for RISK COMMUNICATION

Risk communication is a key component in the implementation of each of these measures, since it determines how they are transmitted to the public. There have been cases in which an adequate communication plan was lacking; where the plan had not been translated or lacked the necessary cultural relevance to the customs and way of living of the population; or the plan did not take advantage of the available media (254) or communication channels most accessible to the population. All these factors result in limited public understanding of the public health messages and measures, and a lack of compliance to measures that are not culturally acceptable or messages that may not even have been received.¹⁸ Lack of communication causes the community to lose trust in decisionmakers when there is a failure to recognize local and community leadership, resulting in an absence of collaborative dialogue.

To promote compliance with public health measures, it is important to accompany them with risk communication strategies and messages tailored to the situation of each population group.

CROSS-CUTTING RECOMMENDATIONS

- Provide the population with regular, timely, specific, user-friendly, audience-appropriate, and reliable information on the status of the
 pandemic and the public health measures adopted; this includes where the measure is being implemented in a territory and how long
 it will remain in effect. Information about the measures should be updated periodically and it should meet the different needs of the
 population (246).
- Regularly disseminate messages through the various communication channels (radio, television, print, etc.) that are appropriate to the population and territory and that are adapted for persons with hearing and visual impairments (246, 247).
- Adopt risk communication strategies that guarantee the rights of individuals, with clear messages tailored to the situation of groups in situations of vulnerability, including persons with disabilities and indigenous populations (246-250).
- Guarantee the cultural relevance of the messages and adapt them to the respective languages and dialects of each country (78, 248, 251).
- Work with influential people and community networks to provide timely information (249).
- Monitor and respond to rumors, questions, and comments through reliable channels (249).
- Develop communication strategies to counter false information (infodemic¹⁹) and social stigma (252).
- Facilitate community participation, including indigenous communities in the preparation of messages, and provide community leaders with timely information to protect people infected with COVID-19 (78, 227, 246).

¹⁸ Some 30% to 80% of the population in the countries have internet access through a mobile device. Source: Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean. El desafío social en tiempos del COVID-19. Santiago, Chile: CEPAL; 2020. Available from: <u>https://www.cepal.org/es/publicaciones/45527-desafio-social-tiempos-covid-19</u>.

¹⁹ Infodemic means information overload(in some cases, accurate information; in others, inaccurate) that prevents people from finding reliable sources and guidance when they need it. Source: Pan American Health Organization. Understanding the Infodemic and Misinformation in the Fight against COVID-19. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2020. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/52052

b. Recommendations to facilitate SOCIAL AND COMMUNITY PARTICIPATION

Another critical aspect when tackling inequalities exacerbated by the pandemic is social and community participation in the planning, implementation, and evaluation of the COVID-19 response (107, 100). Failure to include the population in these processes delays and limits compliance with the measures and hinders follow-up on implementation. At the same time, lack of participation results in poor adaptation of the measures to local contexts, limited cultural relevance, and weak communication strategies. It also entails the risk of community distrust of decisionmakers (253).

Social participation is a basic principle in the construction of health and in empowering communities to be key actors and leaving no one behind. It strengthens preparedness, response, and recovery strategies, ensuring that they are appropriate and effective; helps secure community commitment, which is key for risk communication; fights stigma and discrimination; and facilitates the tailoring of messages to the community reality (107), strengthening resilience.²⁰ Community networks, organizations, and leaders facilitate the identification of practical solutions consistent with community needs to promote and strengthen collective responses (93, 254).

CROSS-CUTTING RECOMMENDATIONS

- Identify community organizations and assets, to work with them on risk communication strategies and adaptation of the measures (108, 110, 227).
- Ensure that community needs are considered when jointly developing preparedness, response, and recovery plans, taking into account the core principles of equity and social justice (109).
- Facilitate and strengthen community empowerment, fomenting community and solidarity-based responses developed by organizations to meet the unmet needs of the population (for example, the organization of soup kitchens in Chile and Peru, and fishermen's distribution of part of their catch to families that have lost their income in Panama) (110, 255).
- Provide and communicate all the available information, engaging all social agents: volunteer groups, authorities, media, institutions, etc. to promote a culture of self protection and community empowerment to deal with adversity (108, 110).
- Strengthen existing partnerships and forge new ones with broader community networks to increase trust among community leaders, communities, and key groups in situations of vulnerability.
- Strengthen existing community governance structures and build capacity among national and local stakeholders (107, 108).

c. Recommendations to guarantee respect for HUMAN RIGHTS

Respect for human rights should be a core value in the implementation of the measures.

CROSS-CUTTING RECOMMENDATIONS

- Ensure that restrictive measures that limit civil, political, economic, social, and cultural rights are evidence based and consistent with the principles of legality, proportionality, need, and temporariness and that their sole purpose is to protect public health (250, 256).
- Ensure that the strategies adopted take human rights into consideration, especially the principle of nondiscrimination (247, 257).
- Ensure that penalties for citizens who fail to comply with confinement, quarantine, business closure, and other measures are rational and proportional to the infraction (78, 250).
- Provide special care for children in situations of vulnerability (due to mental health issues, disability, overcrowding) who are exposed to
 abuse and neglect (247, 250).
- Prioritize service delivery in remote areas and informal settlements to guarantee the availability of basic public services, including water (207, 225, 250).

d. Recommendations for MONITORING AND EVALUATING the measures

20 The pillars of community resilience are: a cohesive social structure, government honesty, cultural identity, collective self esteem, and a social disposition.

A third aspect to highlight is the monitoring and evaluation of public health measures (258, 259). There has been insufficient monitoring of their implementation, and robust evaluations have not been conducted (18), resulting in limited adaptation of the measures. Moreover, there has been little information on groups in situations of vulnerability in the existing analyses and there has been little communication of findings to communities and local governments.

Monitoring and evaluation are essential for proper implementation and adaptation of the measures based on disaggregated data, information on community perceptions of the measures, and analysis of this information to ensure effective responses consistent with the needs of the different populations and territories.

CROSS-CUTTING RECOMMENDATIONS

- Strengthen capacity for monitoring and evaluation of the implementation of the public health measures at the national and local level by collecting data on compliance by groups and territories in situations of vulnerability (disaggregated by sex, age, ethnicity, socioeconomic status, geography, and the areas of vulnerability detailed in Table 1) and analyzing the results, based on the morbidity and mortality associated with the situations of vulnerability (260, 45, 261)
- Improve the collection and analysis of data on inequalities detected in the public health measures and identify where these inequalities are created or exacerbated (45, 261).

In this scenario, it is essential to prioritize monitoring of the aforementioned recommendations and maintain accurate records and information on their implementation and results in order to evaluate their impact. It would also be advisable to design study models for evaluating the effectiveness of the recommendations in the different contexts in which they are implemented.



6. Final thoughts

As noted in the ECLAC and PAHO report (4), several countries in Latin America have become the epicenter of the pandemic and lead the world in cases. COVID-19 has spread rapidly across the Region of the Americas, and countries have instituted public health measures at different levels with different degrees of intensity (262). The pandemic has triggered an unprecedented economic and social crisis, and there have been warnings that if urgent steps are not taken, it could develop into a food, humanitarian, and political crisis.

The balance between the implementation of measures and the "new normalcy," with the reopening of businesses, workplaces, and schools, once again introduces a false dichotomy between health and the economy. Public health is necessary to recover from economic devastation. Opening up national and local economies without instituting public health measures, testing, tracing, and isolation can lead to an even greater disruption of the economy, making new quarantines necessary (263).

It is impossible to consider opening up the economy without first controlling the pandemic. To adequately tackle the pandemic in all phases, health, social, and economic policies must be integrated, coordinated, participatory, and tailored to each national and subnational context, guided by principles that emphasize life, health, and well-being as fundamental prerequisites for reactivating the economy.

In this context, it is necessary to give the social determinants and equity the same priority as public health measures and the medical response. From this perspective, addressing social conditions should be part of the pandemic response, so that socioeconomic consequences and health inequalities receive an integrated response from the health sector and other sectors, rather than treating the socioeconomic consequences as 'collateral damage' of the pandemic (44).

Despite the severity of the COVID-19 pandemic, this crisis offers us an opportunity. The countries have elevated the responsibility for managing the pandemic to the highest level of government, while society and political leaders have recognized the importance of intersectoral action, the search for new solutions, and innovative interventions, as well as the need to address the social determinants of health and equity in health.

This is the right moment to address the structural factors of inequality by investing in inclusive economic and social policies grounded in solidarity that have a positive impact on health and well-being. Now is the time to construct a new normalcy and work toward a recovery that puts health, social justice, and equity squarely at the center of the policy agenda; toward building a society that leaves no one behind (264, 265). The reduction of inequalities should be embraced as the "guiding policy principle, so that everything done during and after this crisis is geared to the construction of more egalitarian, inclusive, and resilient societies" (4).

References

- Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean. América Latina y el Caribe ante la pandemia del COVID-19. Efectos económicos y sociales. Santiago de Chile: CEPAL; 2020. Available from: https://repositorio.cepal.org/bitstream/ handle/11362/45337/4/S2000264_es.pdf.
- United Nations. A UN framework for the immediate socio-economic response to COVID-19. New York: United Nations; 2020. Available from: https://unsdg.un.org/resources/ un-framework-immediate-socio-economic-response-covid-19.
- World Health Organization. Public health and social measures for COVID-19 preparedness and response in low capacity and humanitarian settings. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/public-health-andsocial-measures-for-covid-19-preparedness-and-response-inlow-capacity-and-humanitarian-settings.
- 4. Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean. Informe COVID-19 CEPAL-OPS. Salud y economía: una convergencia necesaria para enfrentar el COVID-19 y retomar la senda hacia el desarrollo sostenible en América Latina y el Caribe. Santiago de Chile: CEPAL; 2020. Available from: https://www. cepal.org/es/publicaciones/45840-salud-economia-convergencia-necesaria-enfrentar-covid-19-retomar-la-senda.
- United Nations. Policy Brief: The Impact of COVID-19 on Latin America and the Caribbean. New York: United Nations; 2020. Available from: https://unsdg.un.org/download/2402/34465.
- Comisión Económica para América Latina y el Caribe. El desafío social en tiempos del COVID-19. Informe Especial COVID-19, núm. 3. Santiago de Chile: CEPAL; 2020. Available from: https:// repositorio.cepal.org/bitstream/handle/11362/45527/5/ S2000325_es.pdf.
- United Nations Development Programme. COVID-19: Human development on course to decline this year for the first time since 1990. New York: UNDP; 2020. Available from: http://hdr. undp.org/en/content/covid-19-human-development-coursedecline-year-first-time-1990
- Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean, International Labour Organization. Coyuntura Laboral en América Latina y el Caribe, núm. 22. El trabajo en tiempos de pandemia: desafíos frente a la enfermedad por coronavirus (COVID-19). Santiago de Chile: CEPAL; 2020. Available from: https://repositorio. cepal.org/bitstream/handle/11362/45557/4/S2000307_es.pdf.
- **9.** Buck D, Maguire D. Inequalities in life expectancy: changes over time and implications for policy. Londres: The King's Fund; 2015.

- World Health Organization. Pulse survey on continuity of essential health services during the COVID-19 pandemic: interim report, 27 August 2020. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/ WHO-2019-nCoV-EHS_continuity-survey-2020.1.
- Pan American Health Organization. Rapid Assessment of COVID-19: Impact on NCD Programs in the Region of the Americas. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2020.
- Killoran A, Kell, MP. Evidence-based Public Health: Effectiveness and efficiency. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2009. Chapter 4: Theory-driven evaluation of public health programmes. Available from: https://oxford.universitypressscholarship. com/view/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199563623.001.0001/ acprof-9780199563623.
- Belcher B, Davel R, Claus R. A refined method for theory-based evaluation of the societal impacts of research. MethodsX 7. 2020;100788. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S221501612030008X.
- World Health Organization. Overview of Public Health and Social Measures in the Context of COVID-19. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/overview-of-public-health-and-social-measures-in-the-context-ofcovid-19.
- 15. Pan American Health Organization. Considerations on Social Distancing and Travel-related Measures in the Context of the Response to the Covid-19 Pandemic. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2020. Available from: https://www.paho.org/en/documents/ considerations-social-distancing-and-travel-related-measures-context-response-covid-19.
- Rychetnik L, Frommer M, Hawe P, Shiell A. Criteria for evaluating evidence on public health interventions. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2002;56:119-127. Available from: https://pubmed. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/11812811/.
- 17. Craig P, Di Ruggiero E, Frohlich KL, Mykhalovskiy E, White M, on behalf of the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR), National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Context Guidance Authors Group. Taking account of context in population health intervention research: guidance for producers, users and funders of research. Southampton: NIHR Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre; 2018.
- 18. Islam N, Sharp SJ, Chowell G, Shabnam S, Kawachi I, Lacey B, Massaro JM, D'Agostino RB, White M. Physical Distancing Interventions and Incidence of Coronavirus Disease 2019: Natural Experiment in 149 Countries. BMJ. 2020;370:m2743. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m2743.

- Pablos-Méndez A, Vega J, Petersen Aranguren F, Tabish H, Raviglione MC. Covid-19 in Latin America. BMJ. 2020;370:m2939. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m2939.
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Addressing inequality in times of COVID-19. Rome: FAO; 2020. Available from: http://www.fao.org/3/ca8843en/CA8843EN.pdf.
- Shadmi E, Chen S, Dourado I, Faran-Perach I, Furler J, Hangoma P, et al. Health equity and COVID-19: global perspectives. International Journal for Equity in Health. 2020;19, Article No. 104. Available from: https://equityhealthj.biomedcentral.com/ articles/10.1186/s12939-020-01218-z.
- Takian A, Kiani MM, Khanjankhani K. COVID-19 and the need to prioritize health equity and social determinants of health. International Journal of Public Health. 2020;65:521-523. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/ s00038-020-01398-z.
- 23. Robinson C. What Social Distancing? Inner-City Residents Say Harsh Living Conditions Rule out Such Measures. The Cleaner; 2020: Lead Stories. Available from: http://jamaica-gleaner.com/article/lead-stories/20200412/what-social-distancing-inner-city-residents-say-harsh-living.
- 24. Pan American Health Organization/World Health Organization. COVID-19 Response. 31 August 2020. Informe núm. 23. Washington, D.C., Geneva: PAHO, WHO. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/bitstream/handle/10665.2/52636/COVID-19SitRep23_eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- 25. Olivares M, Goic M, Weintraub G, Covarrubia J, Escobedo Catalán C. El dispar impacto de las cuarentenas en las comunas de la Región Metropolitana. Santiago de Chile: ISCI; 2020. Available from: http://ingenieria.uchile.cl/documentos/informe-el-dispar-impacto-de-las-cuarentenas-en-las-comunas-de-la-region-metropolitana_163940_0_1412.pdf.
- 26. International Labour Organization. Working from Home: Estimating the worldwide potential. Geneva: ILO; 2020. Available from: https://www.ilo.org/global/topics/non-standard-employment/publications/WCMS_743447/lang--en/index.htm.
- World Bank. Disability Inclusion. Washington, D.C.: World Bank;
 2020. Available from: https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/ disability.
- 28. Cokley R. Coronavirus Proposals Leave the Disability Community Behind. Washington, D.C.: Center for American Progress; 2020. Available from: https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/disability/news/2020/03/27/482378/ coronavirus-proposals-leave-disability-community-behind/.
- 29. United Nations. Factsheet on Persons with Disabilities. New York: United Nations; 2020. Available from: https://www.un.org/ development/desa/disabilities/resources/factsheet-on-persons-with-disabilities.html.

- 30. International Working Group on Indigenous Affairs. The Indigenous World CopenhageN: IWGIA; 2017. Available from: https://www.iwgia.org/en/resources/indigenous-world. Referenced in Fund for the Development of the Indigenous Peoples of Latin America and the Caribbean., Abya Yala Fund. Los Pueblos Indígenas ante la pandemia del COVID-19. Primer informe regional. La Paz, FILAC y FIAY; 2020. Available from: https://indigenascovid19.red/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/FILAC_FIAY_primer-informe-PI_COVID19.pdf.
- 31. Consejo Latinoamericano de Ciencias Sociales. Dossier Pueblos indígenas mexicanos frente a la pandemia Covid19. Buenos Aires: CLACSO; 2020. Available from: https://www.clacso. org/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/Haro-2020-Dossier-Indigenas-mexicanos-frente-a-la-pandemia-Covid19.pdf.
- 32. Consejo Latinoamericano de Ciencias Sociales. Coronavirus y monoculturalidad: las pandemias para los Pueblos Indígenas. Buenos Aires: CLACSO; 2020. Available from: https://www. clacso.org/coronavirus-y-monoculturalidad-las-pandemias-para-los-pueblos-indigenas/.
- 33. Inuit Circumpolar Council. Ongoing Coronavirus Pandemic Highlights Infrastructure Gaps Across Circumpolar Regions Related to Inuit Health: Demonstrates Strength of Inuit Culture. Juneau: ICC; 2020. Available from: https://www.inuitcircumpolar.com/news/ongoing-coronavirus-pandemic-highlights-infrastructure-gaps-across-circumpolar-regions-related-to-inuit-health-demonstrates-strength-of-inuit-culture/.
- 34. Pan American Health Organization. Epidemiological Alert: COVID-19 among indigenous peoples in the Americas. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2020. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/ bitstream/handle/10665.2/52609/EpiUpdate15July2020_eng. pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y.
- **35.** Ray R, Rojas F. Inequality during the coronavi-Contexts: sociology for the rus pandemic. pub-2020. Available https://contexts.org/blog/ lic: from: inequality-during-the-coronavirus-pandemic/#catherine.
- 36. DeRigne, L, Stoddard-Dare P, Quinn L. Workers without paid sick leave less likely to take time off for illness or injury compared to those with paid sick leave. Health Affairs. 2016;35(3):520-527. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26953308/.
- 37. United Natiions Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women. Guidance note: Addressing the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on women migrant workers. New York: UN Women; 2020. Available from: https://www.unwomen.org/en/ digital-library/publications/2020/04/guidance-note-addressing-the-impacts-of-the-covid-19-pandemic-on-women-migrant-workers.

- 38. Wenham C, Smith J, Morgan R, Gender and COVID-19 Working Group. COVID-19: the gendered impacts of the outbreak. Lancet. 2020;395(10227):846-848. Available from: https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(20)30526-2/ fulltext.
- 39. World Bank. COVID-19 Crisis through a Migration Lens. Migration and Development Brief 32. Washington, D.C.: World Bank; 2020. Available from: https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/33634/COVID-19-Crisis-Through-a-Migration-Lens.pdf?sequence=5&isAllowed=y.
- 40. Global Migration Group. Migration, Remittances and Financial Inclusion: Challenges and Opportunities for Women's Economic Empowerment. Rome: GMG; 2017. Available from: https:// globalmigrationgroup.org/system/files/GMG_Report_Remittances_and_Financial_Inclusion_updated_27_July.pdf.
- Abrams EM, Szefler SJ. COVID-19 and the impact of social determinants of health. Lancet Repir Med. 2020;8(7):659-661. Available from: https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanres/article/PIIS2213-2600(20)30234-4/fulltext.
- 42. Jani A. Preparing for COVID-19's aftermath: simple steps to address social determinants of health. J R Soc Med. 2020;113(6):205-207. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/32314660/.
- **43.** Patel JA, Nielsen FBH, Badiani AA, Assi S, Unadkat, VA, Patel B, et al. Poverty, inequality and COVID-19: the forgotten vulnerable. The RS Public Health. 2020;183:110-111.
- 44. Prasad V, Sri BS, Gaitonde R. Bridging a false dichotomy in the COVID-19 response: a public health approach to the 'lockdown' debate. BMJ Global Health. 2020;5:e002909. Available from: https://gh.bmj.com/content/bmjgh/5/6/e002909.full.pdf.
- World Bank. New frontiers of social policy, inclusion matters: the foundation for shared prosperity. Washington, D.C.: World Bank; 2013.
- **46.** Porta M. Dictionary of Epidemiology. 6th ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2014.
- Frohlich, Katherine & Potvin, Louise. (2008). The Inequality Paradox: The Population Approach and Vulnerable Populations. American journal of public health. 98. 216-21. 10.2105/ AJPH.2007.114777.
- 48. Araujo R. Vulnerabilidad y riesgo en salud: ¿dos conceptos concomitantes? Novedades en población Rev Nov Pob. 2015;11(21). Available from: http://scielo.sld.cu/scielo. php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S1817-40782015000100007.
- 49. Kim S., Bostwick W. Social Vulnerability and Racial Inequality in COVID-19 Deaths in Chicago. Health Education & Behavior. 2020;47(4):509-513. Available from: https://journals.sagepub. com/doi/pdf/10.1177/1090198120929677.

- 50. Ortiz C, Di Virgilio MM. Laboratorios de Vivienda (LAVs). Asentamientos precarios y vivienda social: impactos de la Covid-19 y respuestas. n. p.: UHPH; 2020. Available from: https://www. uhph.org/sites/all/files/images/file/lav_impactos_de_la_crisis_ del_covid-19_en_aaii_130420.pdf.
- **51.** Solar O, Irwin A. A Conceptual Framework for Action on the Social Determinants of Health. Discussion paper of the Comission on Social Determinants of Health. Geneva: WHO; 2010.
- Bambra C, Riordan R, Ford J, et al. The COVID-19 pandemic and health inequalities. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2020;0:1 Available from: https://jech.bmj.com/content/jech/early/2020/06/13/jech-2020-214401.full.pdf.
- 53. Chen JT, Krieger N. Revealing the unequal burden of COVID-19 by income, race/ethnicity, and household crowding: US county vs ZIP code analyses. Working Paper Series 21;19(1). Cambridge, MA: Harvard Center for Population and Development Studies; 2020. Available from: https://tinyurl.com/ya44we2r.
- 54. Berkowitz SA, Wiley Cené, and Avik Chatterjee. Covid-19 and Health Equity: Time to Think Big. New England Journal of Medicine. 2020; 0383(12):e76(1)-e76(3). Available from: https://www. nejm.org/doi/pdf/10.1056/NEJMp2021209?articleTools=true.
- 55. Altamirano, A, Azuara O, González S. What effects will COVID-19 have on employment in Latin America and the Caribbean? Potential scenarios for Latin America and the Caribbean. Washington, D.C.: IDB; 2020.
- 56. International Labour Organization. Women and Men in the Informal Economy: A Statistical Picture. Tercera edición. Geneva: WHO; 2018. Available from: https://www.ilo.org/global/publications/books/WCMS_626831/lang--en/index.htm.
- 57. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. COVID-19 in Latin America and the Caribbean: Regional socio-economic implications and policy priorities. Paris: OECD; 2020. Available from: http://www.oecd.org/coronavirus/ policy-responses/covid-19-in-latin-america-and-the-caribbean-regional-socio-economic-implications-and-policy-priorities-93a64fde/.
- 58. Wacquant, L. Castigar a los pobres: el gobierno neoliberal de la inseguridad social. Barcelona: Gedisa; 2010. Wacquant, L. Toward a Dictatorship Over the Poor? Notes on the Penalization of Poverty in Brazil. Punishment & Society. 2003;5(2):197-205. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/146247450352004.
- Almeda Samaranch E, Di Nella D. Mujeres y cárceles en América Latina: perspectivas críticas y feministas. Revista de Sociología. 2017;102(2):183-214.
- 60. Droppelmann Roepke C, Trajenberg N. Inequality and crime in Latin America. In: Anand PB, Fennell S, Comim F, eds. The Oxford Handbook of BRICS and Emerging Economies. Oxford: Oxford University Press; [en prensa].

- **61.** Andersen HS. Mental Health in Prison Populations. A review, with special emphasis on a study of Danish prisoners on remand. Acta Psychiatr Scand Suppl. 2004;110(s424):5-59.
- 62. Saavedra J, López M. Riesgo de suicidio de hombres internos con condena en centros penitenciarios Revista Psiquiatría y Salud Mental (Barc.). 2015; 8(4):224-231. Available from: https://www.elsevier.es/es-revista-revista-psiquiatria-salud-mental-286-articulo-riesgo-suicidio-hombres-internos-con-S1888989113000839
- 63. Mundt AP, Alvarado R, Fritsch R, Poblete C, Villagra C, Kastner S, et al. Prevalence Rates of Mental Disorders in Chilean Prisons. PLoS One. 2013;8(7): e69109. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3718830/#:~:text=Prevalence%20rates%20were%2012.2%25%20(95,)%20for%20non%2Daffective%20psychoses.
- 64. Brugha T, Singleton N, Bebbington P, Farrell M, Coid J, Fryers T, et al. Psychosis in the Community and in Prisons: A Report From the British National Survey of Psychiatric Morbidity. American Journal of Psychiatry; 2005 (162):774-780.
- Enggist S, Møller L, Galea G, Udesen C. Prisons and Health. Geneva: WHO; 2014. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/128603.
- 66. World Health Organization. Preparedness, prevention and control of COVID-10 in prisons and other places of detention. Interim Guidance. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2020. Available from: https://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0019/434026/Preparedness-prevention-and-control-of-COVID-19-in-prisons.pdf.
- Sociedad de Criminología Latinoamericana. Los efectos del Coronavirus en las cárceles de Latino América. SOCLA; 2020. Available from: https://criminologialatam.wordpress.com/2020/06/12/ efectos-del-covid-19-carceles-de-latino-america/.
- **68.** Prison Insider. Cartografía del coronavirus en prisión. n. p.: Prision Insider; 2020. Available from: https://www.prison-insider. com/es/articles/cartographie-du-coronavirus-en-prison.
- 69. Novoa R. Intento de fuga se registró en la cárcel Santiago 1. ADN Radio; 2020. Available from: https://www.adnradio.cl/nacional/2020/03/19/incidentes-se-registran-en-carcel-santiago-1. html.
- 70. Tully T. 1,000 Inmates Will Be Released From N.J. Jails to Curb Coronavirus Risk. The New York Times; 2020. Available from: https://www.nytimes.com/2020/03/23/nyregion/coronavirus-nj-inmates-release.html.
- 71. Hafezi P. Irán libera temporalmente a 85.000 reos, incluidos presos políticos, por crisis de coronavirus. Infobae; 2020. Available from: https://www.infobae.com/america/agencias/2020/03/17/iran-libera-temporalmente-a-85000-reos-incluidos-presos-politicos-por-crisis-de-coronavirus/.

- 72. Fuga masiva en cárceles de Brasil tras medidas ante el COVID-19. CNN Chile; 2020. Available from: https://www.cnnchile.com/ coronavirus/fuga-masiva-en-carceles-de-brasil-tras-medidasante-el-covid-19_20200317/.
- **73.** Seis muertos, motines y fugas en las cárceles de Italia por el coronavirus. Heraldo; 2020. Available from: https://www.heral-do.es/noticias/internacional/2020/03/09/fuga-masiva-de-un-acarcel-de-italia-y-revueltas-en-una-treintena-mas-por-las-me-didas-contra-el-coronavirus-1362991.html.
- 74. Blandón Ramírez D. Presos de distintas partes del mundo se amotinan por temor al coronavirus. France 24; 2020. Available from: https://www.france24.com/ es/20200322-coronavirus-presos-carceles-temor-motines.
- 75. United Nations Children's Fund. Children in Conflict with the Law. New York: Unicef; 2020. Available from: https://www. unicef.org/chinese/protection/files/Conflict_with_the_Law.pdf
- 76. Amaral de Oliveira L, Aguiar Arantes R. Neighborhood Effects and Urban Inequalities: The Impact of Covid-19 on the Periphery of Salvador. Brazil. City & Society. 2020;32(1). Available from: https://doi.org/10.1111/ciso.12266.
- Oxfam. El coronavirus no discrimina, las desigualdades sí. Londres: Oxfam; 2020. Available from: https://www.oxfam.org/en/ node/12128.
- 78. Pan American Health Organization. Considerations on Inidgenous Peoples, Afro-Descendants, and Other Ethnic Groups during the COVID-19 Pandemic. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2020. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/52251.
- 79. Guan W, Liang W, Zhao Y, Liang H, Chen Z, Li Y, et al. Comorbidity and its impact on 1590 patients with covid-19 in China: a nationwide analysis. Eur Respir J. 2020;55(5). Available from: https://erj.ersjournals.com/content/ early/2020/03/17/13993003.00547-2020.
- Marmot M, Allen J, Goldblatt P, Boyce T, McNeish D, Grady M, et al. Fair Society, Healthy Lives. The Marmot Review. London: Institute of Health Equity; 2010.
- World Health Organization. Information Note. COVID-19 and NCDs. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https://www.who. int/publications/m/item/covid-19-and-ncds
- 82. Bauer GR. Incorporating intersectionality theory into population health research methodology: challenges and the potential to advance health equity. Social Science & Medicine. 2014;110:10-17.
- Malmusi D, Borrell C, Benach J. Migration-related health inequalities: showing the complex interactions between gender, social class and place of origin. Social Science & Medicine. 2010;71:1610-1619.

- 84. Pan American Health Organization. Guía para el cuidado de pacientes adultos críticos con COVID-19 en las Américas. Versión 2. Washington, D.C.: OPS; 2020. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/52529.
- 85. Pan American Health Organization. Ongoing Living Update of Potential COVID-19 Therapeutics: summary of rapid systematic reviews. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2020. Available from: https:// iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/52672
- 86. World Health Organization. Public health criteria to adjust public health and social measures in the context of COVID-19. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/public-health-criteria-to-adjust-public-healthand-social-measures-in-the-context-of-covid-19.
- 87. Pan American Health Organization. Technical Note. Adapting the First Level of Care in the Context of the COVID-19 Pandemic: Interventions, Modalities, and Scope. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2020. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/52225.
- 88. World Health Organization. Strengthening preparedness for COVID-19 in cities and urban settings: interim guidance for local authorities. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https://apps. who.int/iris/handle/10665/331896.
- Marston C, Renedo A, Miles S. Community participation is crucial in a pandemic. Lancet. 2020;4;395(10238):P1676-P1678. Available from: https://www.thelancet.com/pdfs/journals/lancet/PIIS0140-6736(20)31054-0.pdf.
- 90. World Health Organization. COVID-19 Strategy update. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/coronaviruse/covid-strategy-update-14april2020. pdf?sfvrsn=29da3ba0_19.
- 91. World Health Organization. Community-based health care, including outreach and campaigns, in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/331975/WHO-2019-nCoV-Comm_health_care-2020.1-eng. pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y.
- 92. World Health Organization. Role of community engagement in situations of extensive community transmission of COVID-19. Manila: WHO Regional Office for the Western Pacific; 2020. Available from: https://iris.wpro.who.int/handle/10665.1/14521.
- 93. Uriarte Arciniega J de D. La resiliencia comunitaria en situaciones catastróficas y de emergencia. International Journal of Developmental and Educational Psychology INFAD. 2010;1(1):687-693. Available from: https://core.ac.uk/reader/72045848.
- 94. Pan American Health Organization. Strategy for Universal Access to Health and Universal Health Coverage. Available from: https://www.paho.org/hq/dmdocuments/2014/cd53-5-e.pdf

- 95. Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean.
 COVID-19 Observatory in Latin America and the Caribbean. Economic and Social Impact. Santiago de Chile: ECLAC; 2020.
 Available from: https://www.cepal.org/en/topics/covid-19
- 96. International Labour Organization. COVID-19 crisis and the informal economy. Immediate responses and policy challenges. Geneva: ILO; 2020. Available from: https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_protect/---protrav/---travail/documents/briefingnote/wcms_743623.pdf.
- 97. Sistema de la Integración Centroamericana. La protección social en Costa Rica. San Salvador: SICA; 2020. Available from: https://sisca.int/ocades-text/formacion/1-publicaciones/serie-de-infografias/desarrollo-proteccion-e-inclusion-social/covid-19-medidas-implementadas-por-los-paises-de-la-region-sica/1196-medidas-implementadas-en-costa-rica-ante-la-crisis-por-la-covid-19/ file.
- 98. CARE, United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women. Latin America and the Caribbean Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19. New York: CARE, UN Women; 2020. Available from: https://www.care-international.org/files/files/enlac_rga_report_english_final_junio2_1comprimido.pdf
- 99. Pan American Health Organization. Recommendations to expand access to hand washing and its proper use. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2020. Available from: https://www.paho.org/en/documents/recommendations-expand-access-hand-washing-and-its-proper-use
- 100. United Nations. Policy Brief: The Impact of COVID-19 on Latin America and the Caribbean. New York: United Nations; 2020. Available from: https://www.un.org/sites/un2.un.org/files/sg_ policy_brief_covid_lac.pdf.
- 101. Fondo para el Desarrollo de los Pueblos Indígenas de América Latina y el Caribe, Fondo Indígena del Abya Yala. Los Pueblos Indígenas ante la pandemia del COVID-19. Primer informe regional. La Paz, FILAC y FIAY; 2020. Available from: https://indigenascovid19.red/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/FILAC_FIAY_ primer-informe-PI_COVID19.pdf.
- 102. Castro A. Response to the COVID-19 pandemic in urban slums and rural populations in Latin America. 2020 April 16. In: United Nations Development Program. Blog UNDP Latin America and the Caribbean. New York: UNDP; 2020. Weblog [online]. Available from: https://www.latinamerica.undp.org/content/rblac/ en/home/blog/2020/respuesta-a-la-pandemia-de-covid-19-enpoblaciones-urbano-margin.html
- 103. World Health Organization. Home care for patients with COVID-19 presenting with mild symptoms and management of their contacts. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https:// www.who.int/publications/i/item/home-care-for-patientswith-suspected-novel-coronavirus-(ncov)-infection-presenting-with-mild-symptoms-and-management-of-contacts.

- 104. Inter-Agency Standing Committee. Interim guidance on public health and social measures for COVID-19 preparedness and response in low capacity and humanitarian settings. Version 1. Geneva: IASC; 2020. Available from: https://interagencystand-ingcommittee.org/system/files/2020-06/IASC%20Interim%20 Guidance%20on%20Public%20Health%20Measures%20 for%20COVID-19%20in%20Low%20Capacity%20and%20Humanitarian%20Settings_For%20circulation.pdf.
- 105. World Health Organization. Considerations for quarantine of individuals in the context of containment for coronavirus disease (COVID-19). Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https:// www.who.int/publications/i/item/considerations-for-quarantine-of-individuals-in-the-context-of-containment-for-coronavirus-disease-(covid-19).
- 106. Ministerio de Salud de Chile. Residencias sanitarias para pacientes diagnosticados con Coronavirus (COVID-19). Santiago de Chile: Ministerio de Salud de Chile; 2020. Available from: https:// www.chileatiende.gob.cl/fichas/79542-residencias-sanitarias-para-pacientes-diagnosticados-con-coronavirus-covid-19.
- 107. World Health Organization. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19): Advice for the public. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/advice-for-public.
- 108. Pan American Health Organization. Recommendations for Cleaning and Disinfection in Homes with Suspected or Confirmed Cases of COVID-19. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2020. Available from: https://www.paho.org/en/documents/recommendations-cleaning-and-disinfection-homes-suspected-or-confirmed-cases-covid-19-11
- 109. Social Science in Humanitarian Action. Key Considerations: COVID-19 in informal urban settlements. n. p.: SSHAP; 2020. Available from: https://opendocs.ids.ac.uk/ opendocs/bitstream/handle/20.500.12413/15185/SSHAP_ COVID-19_Key_Considerations_Informal_Settlements-final. pdf?sequence=15&isAllowed=y
- 110. Pan American Health Organization. Considerations for the Reorganization of Cancer Services during the COVID-19 Pandemic (2020). Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2020. Available from: https:// iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/52263
- 111. Pan American Health Organization, World Health Organization. Teleconsultations during a pandemic. Washington, D.C., Geneva: PAHO, WHO; 2020. Available from: https://www.paho.org/ ish/images/docs/covid-19-teleconsultations-en.pdf?ua=1
- 112. Ministerio de Salud y Protección Social de Colombia. Orientaciones para la prevención, detección y manejo de casos de COVID-19 para población étnica en Colombia. Bogotá: Minsalud; 2020. Available from: https://www.minsalud.gov.co/Ministerio/ Institucional/Procesos%20y%20procedimientos/TEDS04.pdf.

- **113.** Bliss L, Rios L. Tracing the Invisible Danger of Household Crowding. Bloomberg CityLab; 2020. Available from: https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2020-07-21/ gentrification-and-crowding-boost-covid-19-risk.
- 114. Bilal U. Covid-19 and Latin American Cities. 2020 Mar 27. In: Urban Health Network; 2020. Blog [online]. Available from: https://drexel.edu/lac/media/blog/2020/March/COVID%20and%20LatAm/.
- 115. Nobajas A, Ganau I, Casas J, Paül i Agustí D, Peacock A. Lack of sufficient public space can limit the effectiveness of COVID-19's social distancing measures. n. p.: MedRXiv; 2020. Available from: https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/2020.06.07.201249 82v2.full.pdf.
- 116. Oliver L. Coronavirus: a pandemic in the age of inequality. Geneva: FEM; 2020. Available from: https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2020/03/ coronavirus-pandemic-inequality-among-workers/.
- 117. Busso M, Messina J. Social Distancing, Informality, and the Problem of Inequality. 2020 Apr 9. In: Inter-American Development Bank. Ideas that Matter. Washington, D.C.: IDB; 2020. Blog [online]. Available from: https://blogs.iadb.org/ideas-matter/en/social-distancing-informality-and-the-problem-of-inequality/
- **118.** Blow C. Social distancing is a privilege. The New York Times. 2020; Opinion. Available from: https://www.nytimes. com/2020/04/05/opinion/coronavirus-social-distancing.html
- 119. Huynh TLD. Does culture matter social distancing under the COVID-19 pandemic? Saf Sci. 2020;130:104872. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7284251/.
- 120. United Nations. COVID-19 and the Need for Action on Mental Health. New York: Naciones Unidas; 2020. Available from: https://www.un.org/sites/un2.un.org/files/un_policy_briefcovid_and_mental_health_final.pdf.
- 121. Emerson KG. Coping with Being Cooped up: Social Distancing during COVID-19 among 60+ in the United States. Rev Panam Salud Pública. 2020;44: 1-7. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/ handle/10665.2/52374.
- 122. United Nations. Policy Brief: The Impact of COVID-19 on children. New York: United Nations; 2020. Available from: https://unsdg.un.org/sites/default/files/2020-04/160420_Covid_Children_Policy_Brief.pdf.
- 123. Röhr S, Müller F, Jung F, Apfelbacher C, Seidler A, Riedel-Heller SG. Psychosocial Impact of Quarantine Measures During Serious Coronavirus Outbreaks: A Rapid Review. Psychiatr Prax. 2020; 47(04):179-189. Available from: https://doi. org/10.1055/a-1159-5562.

- 124. Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean, Entidad de las Naciones Unidas para la Igualdad de Género y el Empoderamiento de las Mujeres. Cuidados en América Latina y el Caribe en tiempos de COVID-19. Santiago de Chile: CEPAL; 2020. Available from: https://www.cepal.org/sites/default/files/ document/files/policy_brief_cuidados_espanolv_190829_ v1_1.pdf.
- 125. Atar S, Atar I. An invited commentary on the "Socio-economic implications of the coronavirus and COVID-19 pandemic: A review". International Journal of Surgery. 2020;78:185-193. Available from: https://reader.elsevier.com/reader/sd/pii/ S1743919120303538?token=C34E4D3BC52B398A1794C3AFD-F7BB514B7D8EB7E4BFA2200FBF9D899981973D027E2BE-6F69A54BF761CED56E0EB7F467.
- 126. Tam CF, Cheung KS, Lam S, Wong A, Yung A, Sze M, et al. Impact of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak on ST-segment-elevation myocardial infarction care in Hong Kong, China. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes. 2020;13(4).
- 127. Guadagno L. Migrants and the COVID-19 pandemic: An initial analysis. Geneva: IOM; 2020. Available from: https://publications.iom.int/system/files/pdf/mrs-60.pdf.
- 128. Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean. Latin America and the Caribbean and the COVID-19 pandemic economic and social effects and the impact on women's lives. Santiago de Chile: CEPAL; 2020. Available from: https://www. cepal.org/sites/default/files/presentations/latin_america_and_ the_caribbean_and_the_covid-19_pandemic_economic_and_ social_effects_andthe_impact_on_womens_lives_0.pdf.
- 129. United Nations, Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean. La pandemia del COVID-19 profundiza la crisis de los cuidados en América Latina y el Caribe. Santiago de Chile: CEPAL; 2020. Available from: https://www.cepal.org/es/publicaciones/45335-la-pandemia-covid-19-profundiza-la-crisis-cuidados-america-latina-caribe.
- **130.** United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women. COVID-19 and ending violence against women and girls. New York: UN Women; 2020. Available from: https://www. unwomen.org/en/digital-library/publications/2020/04/issuebrief-covid-19-and-ending-violence-against-women-and-girls.
- 131. United Nations. El Comité de Derechos del Niño advierte sobre el grave efecto físico, emocional y psicológico de la pandemia COVID-19 en los niños y hace un llamado a los Estados para proteger los derechos de los niños. New York: United Nations; 2020. Available from: https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/Treaties/CRC/ Shared%20Documents/1_Global/INT_CRC_STA_9095_S.pdf.
- 132. Pan American Health Organization, World Health Organization. Disability considerations during the COVID-19 outbreak. Washington, D.C.: OPS; 2020. Available from: https://www.paho.org/en/documents/ disability-considerations-during-covid-19-outbreak

- 133. International Disability Alliance. Toward a Disability-Inclusive COVID19 Response: 10 recommendations from the International Disability Alliance. n. p: IDA; 2020. Available from: https://www. internationaldisabilityalliance.org/sites/default/files/ida_recommendations_for_disability-inclusive_covid19_response_final.pdf.
- 134. Pan American Health Organization. Caribbean Shelter Guide: COVID-19 Considerations. Washington, D.C.: OPS; 2020. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/52170.
- 135. Pan American Health Organization. Recommendations on Environmental Public Health for Temporary Shelters. Place where shelter, food, clothing, and health are temporarily provided to vulnerable people who cannot stay at home. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2020. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/bitstream/handle/10665.2/52189/PAHOCDECECOVID-19200017_eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- 136. World Health Organization. Preventing and managing COVID-19 across long-term care services: Policy brief. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications-detail-redirect/ WHO-2019-nCoV-Policy_Brief-Long-term_Care-2020.1.
- 137. United Nations Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights. COVID-19 Guidance Note. Protecting those living in homelessness. New York: OHCHR; 2020. Available from: https:// www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Housing/SR_housing_ COVID-19_guidance_homeless.pdf.
- 138. Dryhurst S, Schneider CR, Kerr J, Freeman ALJ, Recchia G, van der Bles AM, et al. Risk perceptions of COVID-19 around the world. Journal of Risk Research: 2020. Available from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/13669877.2020.175819
 3.
- 139. World Health Organization. Addressing violence against children, women and older people during the covid-19 pandemic: Key actions. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https://www.who.int/ publications/i/item/WHO-2019-nCoV-Violence_actions-2020.1.
- 140. United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women. The Shadow Pandemic: Violence against Women during COVID-19. New York: UN Women; 2020. Available from: https://www.unwomen.org/en/news/in-focus/in-focus-gender-equality-in-covid-19-response/violence-against-women-during-covid-19
- 141. Renahy E, Mitchell C, Molnar A, et al. Connections between unemployment insurance, poverty and health: a systematic review. Eur J Public Health. 2018;28(2):269-275. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29360958/.
- 142. Colegio Médico de Chile. Acciones para el Abordaje de Prevención y Atención a la Salud con Pertinencia Cultural y Territorial a las Personas, Familias y Comunidades de Pueblos Indígenas en Contexto de Pandemia COVID-19. Santiago de Chile: Colegio Médico de Chile. Available from: http://www.colegiomedico.cl/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/documento-de-primeras-naciones_compressed-1.pdf.

- **143.** UN News. 5 reasons Costa Rica is winning plaudits for fighting COVID-19. Costa Rica. UN News; May 2020. Available from: https://news.un.org/en/story/2020/05/1064412.
- 144. United Nations. #HealthyAtHome: Healthy Diet. New York: United Nations; 2020. Available from: https://www.who.int/ campaigns/connecting-the-world-to-combat-coronavirus/ healthyathome/healthyathome---healthy-diet.
- 145. WorldHealthOrganization.Stayphysicallyactiveduringself-quarantine. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2020. Available from: https://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/ health-emergencies/coronavirus-covid-19/technical-guidance/ stay-physically-active-during-self-quarantine.
- 146. BMJ's Coronavirus (COVID-19) Exercise Prescription during a Pandemic: Keeping Active with Dr. Jordan Metzl. 2020. In: Blog BMJ Journals COVID-19. Blog [online]. Available from: https:// blogs.bmj.com/covid-19/2020/05/14/bmjs-covid-19-podcasts/.
- 147. Pan American Health Organization. Mental health and psychosocial considerations during the COVID 19 outbreak. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2020. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/331490/WHO-2019-nCoV-Mental-Health-2020.1-eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- 148. Vicerrectoría de Asuntos Económicos y Gestión Institucional de la Universidad de Chile. Lanzamiento consulta ciudadana. Respuesta Comunitaria a la Pandemia Chile. Santiago de Chile: Vicerrectoría de Asuntos Económicos y Gestión Institucional de la Universidad de Chile; 2020. Available from: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=TuK7Qw9ghgk.
- 149. Inter-Agency Standing Committee. Interim Briefing Note. Addressing Mental Health and Psychosocial Aspects of the COVID-19 Outbreak.. Geneva: IASC; 2020. Available from: https://interagencystandingcommittee.org/system/ files/2020-03/IASC%20Interim%20Briefing%20Note%20 on%20COVID-19%20Outbreak%20Readiness%20and%20Response%20Operations%20-%20MHPSS_0.pdf
- 150. Pan American Health Organization. Maintaining Essential Services for People Living with Noncommunicable Diseases during COVID-19. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2020. Available from: https://www.paho.org/en/documents/maintaining-essential-services-people-living-noncommunicable-diseases-during-covid-19
- **151.** Pan American Health Organization. Access to Essential Medicines for Noncommunicable Diseases during the COVID-19 Pandemic. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2020. Available from: https://www.paho.org/en/documents/access-essential-medicines-noncommunicable-diseases-during-covid-19-pandemic

- 152. Pan American Health Organization. Digital Health: A Strategy to Maintain Health Care for People Living with Noncommunicable Diseases during COVID-19. Factsheet N. 11. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2020. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/bitstream/ handle/10665.2/52543/PAHOEIHISCOVID-19200015_eng. pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- 153. Pan American Health Organization. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) advice for the public: Healthy Parenting. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2020. Available from: https://www.paho.org/en/documents/coronavirus-disease-covid-19-advice-public-healthy-parenting
- 154. La Alianza para la Protección de la Niñez y Adolescencia en la Acción Humanitaria. Protección de la infancia contra la violencia, el abuso y el abandono en el hogar. n. p.: La Alianza; 2020. Available from: https://alliancecpha.org/en/system/tdf/library/ attachments/nota_tecnica_sobre_la_covid-19_y_sus_implicaciones_para_la_proteccion_de_la_infancia_respecto_a_la_violencia_en_el_hogar_final.pdf?file=1&type=node&id=38088.
- 155. Dini M, Stumpo G. Mipymes en América Latina: un frágil desempeño y nuevos desafíos para las políticas de fomento. Santiago de Chile: CEPAL; 2018. Available from: https://www.cepal.org/ es/publicaciones/44148-mipymes-america-latina-un-fragil-desempeno-nuevos-desafios-politicas-fomento.
- 156. Beaunoyer E, Dupéré S, Guitton M. COVID-19 and digital inequalities: Reciprocal impacts and mitigation strategies. Computers in Human Behavior. 2020;111(106424):1-9. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0747563220301771.
- 157. Edwards S, Snyder L. Yes, balancing work and parenting is impossible. Here's the data. The Washington Post. 2020; Outlook Perspective. Available from: https://www.washingtonpost.com/outlook/interruptions-parenting-pandemic-work-home/2020/07/09/599032e6-b4ca-11ea-aca5-ebb63d27e1ff_story.
- 158. Rehm J., Kilian C, Ferreira-Borges C, Jernigan D, Monteiro M, Parry C, et al. Alcohol use in times of the Covid-19: Implications for monitoring and policy. Drug and Alcohol Review. 2020;39:301-304. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1111/dar.13074.
- 159. Monteiro M, Rehm J, Duennbier M. Alcohol Policy and Coronavirus: An Open Research Agenda Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs. Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs. 2020;81(3):297-299. Available from: https://www.jsad.com/doi/ full/10.15288/jsad.2020.81.297.

- 160. Organización para la Cooperación y el Desarrollo Económicos. La informalidad y la protección del empleo durante y después de covid-19: Buenas prácticas y la necesidad de redes de seguridad universales. Cumbre Ministerial Virtual sobre Inclusión Social OCDE-América Latina y el Caribe; 2020. Sesión 1. Available from: http://www.oecd.org/ latin-america/events/cumbre-ministerial-sobre-inclusion-social/2020-OCDE-LAC-Ministerial-Informalidad-y-la-protecci%C3%B3n-del-empleo-durante-y-despues-de-COVID-19.pdf.
- 161. International Labour Organización. ILO Monitor: COVID-19 and the world of work. Second edition. Updated estimates and analysis. Geneva: ILO; 2020. Available from: https://www.ilo.org/ wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---dcomm/documents/ briefingnote/wcms_740877.pdf.
- 162. United Nations Children's Fund. Recommendations to families on how to combine working from home with caring for young children.. New York: Unicef; 2020. Available from: https://www.unicef.org/lac/media/11251/file/Teleworking-and-caring-for-children.pdf
- 163. United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization. Adverse consequences of school closingss. New York: UNESCO; 2020. Available from: https://en.unesco.org/covid19/ educationresponse/consequences.
- 164. Armitage, R. Considering inequalities in the school closings response to COVID-19. Lancet. 2020;8(5):E644. Link: DOI: https:// doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(20)30116-9.
- 165. World Health Organization. Joint leaders' statement, Violence against children: A hidden crisis of the COVID-19 pandemic. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https://www.who.int/newsroom/detail/08-04-2020-joint-leader-s-statement---violenceagainst-children-a-hidden-crisis-of-the-covid-19-pandemic.
- 166. Pan American Health Organization. INSPIRE: Seven Strategies for Ending Violence against Children. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2016. Available from: https://www.paho.org/en/documents/ inspire-seven-strategies-ending-violence-against-children.
- 167. World Health Organization. School-based violence prevention: a practical handbook. Geneva: WHO; 2019. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/324930.
- 168. World Health Organization. Mental health and psychological resilience during the COVID-19 pandemic. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2020. Available from: euro.who.int/ en/health-topics/health-emergencies/coronavirus-covid-19/ news/news/2020/3/mental-health-and-psychological-resilience-during-the-covid-19-pandemic.
- 169. United Nations. El cierre de los comedores escolares por el coronavirus, un desafío para la alimentación en América Latina. Noticias ONU. 2020 Mar 18; Salud. Available from: https://news. un.org/es/story/2020/03/1471332.

- 170. Borkoswski A, Hares S, Minardi AL. With Schools Closed, Hundreds of Millions of Children Are Not Receiving School Meals. Washington, D.C.: CGD; 2020. Available from: https://www.cg-dev.org/blog/schools-closed-hundreds-millions-children-are-not-receiving-school-meals
- 171. Rieble-Aubourg S, Viteri A. COVID-19: ¿Estamos preparados para el aprendizaje en línea? Washington, D.C.: BID; 2020. Available from: https://publications.iadb.org/publications/spanish/document/Nota-CIMA--20-COVID-19-Estamos-preparados-para-elaprendizaje-en-linea.pdf.
- 172. World Health Organization. Considerations for school-related public health measures in the context of COVID-19. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https://www.who.int/ publications/i/item/considerations-for-school-related-publichealth-measures-in-the-context-of-covid-19.
- 173. World Food Programme, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, United Nations Children's Fund. Interim guidance note: Mitigating the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on food and nutrition of schoolchildren. Rome, New York: WFP, FAO, Unicef; 2020. Available from: http://www.fao.org/3/ ca8434en/CA8434EN.pdf.
- 174. Global Child Nutrition Foundation. COVID. COVID-19 & School Meals around the World. Seattle, WA: GCNF; 2020. Available from: https://gcnf.org/covid/.
- 175. Dreesen T, Akseer S, Brossard M, Dewan P, Giraldo JP, Kamei A, et al. Promising practices for equitable remote learning Emerging lessons from COVID-19 education responses in 127 countries. New York: Unicef; 2020. Available from: https://www.unicef-irc. org/publications/pdf/IRB%202020-10.pdf.
- 176. Cobo C, Hawkins R, Rovner H. How countries across Latin America use technology during COVID19-driven school closings. 2020 Mar 31. In: World Bank. Education for Global Development. Washington, D.C.: World Bank; 2020. Blog [online]. Available from: https://blogs.worldbank.org/education/how-countriesacross-latin-america-use-technology-during-covid19-drivenschool-closures.
- 177. United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization. Distance learning solutions. New York: UNESCO; 2020. Available from: https://en.unesco.org/covid19/educationresponse/ solutions.
- 178. Gobierno de México. Aprende en Casa. Ciudad de México: Gobierno de México. Available from: https://www.televisioneducativa.gob.mx/.
- 179. Safe to Learn. Safe to Learn during COVID-19: Recommendations to prevent and respond to violence against children in all learning environments. n. p.: Safe to Learn; 2020. Available from: https://www.end-violence.org/sites/default/files/paragraphs/ download/STL%20COVID%2019%20response%20Key%20messages_%20%28002%29.pdf.

- 180. United Nations Children's Fund. How to keep your child safe online while stuck at home during the COVID-19 outbreak. Dacca: UNICEF; 2020. Available from: https://www.unicef.org/ coronavirus/keep-your-child-safe-online-at-home-covid-19.
- 181. World Health Organization. Parenting in the time of COVID-19. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/advice-for-public/ healthy-parenting.
- 182. United Nations Childrens's Fund. Decálogo para madres, padres y otros cuidadores en tiempos de COVID-19. New York: Unicef; 2020. Available from: https://www.unicef.org/lac/en/node/4616.
- 183. Bathia A. Women and COVID-19: Five things governments can do now. New York: UN Women; 2020. Available from: https:// www.unwomen.org/en/news/stories/2020/3/news-womenand-covid-19-governments-actions-by-ded-bhatia.
- 184. United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. Protecting children deprived of liberty during the Covid-19 outbreak. Viena: UN-DOC; 2020. Available from: https://www.unodc.org/documents/ Advocacy-Section/MoS_Children_in_detention_COVID-19.pdf.
- 185. Goldman PS, van Ijzendoorn MH, Sonuga-Barke E. The implications of COVID-19 for the care of children living in residential institutions. Lancet. 2020;4(6):E12. Available from: https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanchi/article/PIIS2352-4642(20)30130-9/ fulltext.
- 186. World Health Organization. Infection Prevention and Control guidance for Long-term Care Facilities in the context of COVID-19. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https://apps. who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/331508/WHO-2019nCoV-IPC_long_term_care-2020.1-eng.pdf.
- 187. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Nursing Home Care. n. p.: CDC; 2020. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/ fastats/nursing-home-care.htm.
- 188. Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights. Technical Note: COVID-19 and Children Deprived of their Liberty. New York: ACNUDH; 2020. Available from: https://reliefweb.int/report/world/technical-note-covid-19-and-children-deprived-their-liberty.
- 189. World Health Organization. Preparedness for cyclones, tropical storms, tornadoes, floods and earthquakes during the COVID-19 pandemic. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/ WHO-2019-nCoV-Advisory-Preparedness-2020.1.
- 190. Pan American Health Organization. COVID-19: Recomendations on Environmental Public Health for Temporary Shelters. Place where shelter, food, clothing, and health are temporarily provided to vulnerable people who cannot stay at home. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2020. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/ handle/10665.2/52189

- 191. Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean. COVID19. Recomendaciones generales para la atención a personas mayores desde una perspectiva de derechos humanos. Santiago de Chile: CEPAL; 2020. Available from: https://repositorio. cepal.org/bitstream/handle/11362/45316/4/S2000271_es.pdf.
- 192. Pan American Health Organization. Abordar la violencia doméstica en el contexto de COVID-19. Washington, D.C.: OPS; 2020. Available from: https://www.paho.org/es/file/66922/ download?token=MJWyOMcZ
- 193. International Labour Organization. Indigenous & Tribal Peoples' Rights in Practice. A Guide to ILO Convention No. 169. Geneva: ILO; 2020. Available from: https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/ public/---dgreports/---dcomm/---publ/documents/publication/ wcms_171810.pdf
- 194. Kluge HH, Jakab Z, Bartovic J, D'Anna V, Severoni S. Refugee and migrant health in the COVID-19 response. Lancet. 2020;395(10232):P1237-P1239. Available from: https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/ PIIS0140-6736(20)30791-1/fulltext
- 195. Paredes H. Presos indígenas en Chiapas reportan síntomas de covid-19 y nula atención. Pie de Página; 20 de mayo del 2020. Available from: https://piedepagina.mx/presos-indigenas-en-chiapas-reportan-sintomas-de-covid-19-y-nula-atencion/
- 196. World Prision Brief, Institute for Crime & Justice Policy Research, Birkbeck University of London. Highest to Lowest. Occupancy level (based on official capacity). n. p.: WPB, ICPR, Birkbeck University of London; 2020. Available from: https://www.prisonstudies.org/highest-to-lowest/occupancy-
- 197. Pan American Health Organization. Recommendations for the Cleaning and Disinfection of Sites Where People are Closely Confined and Deprived of Their Liberty: Penitentiaries, Prisons, and Migrant Detention Centers. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2020. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/52166.
- 198. International Drug Policy Consortium. Covid-19: prisiones y detención en Latinoamérica. London: IDPC; 2020. Available from: http:// fileserver.idpc.net/library/Nota_Prisiones_COVID19_LatAm.pdf.
- 199. Prison Insider. América: coronavirus, la fiebre en prisión. Prision Insider; 18 March 2020;Temas. Available from: https://www.prison-insider.com/es/articles/ ameriques-coronavirus-la-fievre-des-prisons.
- 200. United National Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization. Culture & COVID-19. Impact & Response Tracker. New York: UNESCO; 2020. Available from: https://en.unesco.org/sites/default/files/special_issue_en_culture_covid-19_tracker.pdf.
- 201. World Health Organization. Practical considerations and recommendations for religious leaders and faith-based communities in the context of COVID-19. Interim Guidance. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/rest/bitstreams/1274420/retrieve.

- 202. World Health Organization. Key planning recommendations for mass gatherings in the context of the current COVID-19 outbreak. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https://www.who. int/publications/i/item/10665-332235.
- 203. Zhu S, Srebric J, Spengler JD, Demokritou P. An advanced numerical model for the assessment of airborne transmission of influenza in bus microenvironments. Building and Environment. 2012;47:67-75. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. buildenv.2011.05.003.
- 204. López-Olmedo N, Stern D, Pérez-Ferrer C, González-Morales R, Canto-Osorio F, Barrientos Gutiérrez T. Revisión rápida: probabilidad de contagio por infecciones respiratorias agudas en el transporte público y medidas para mitigarlo. Salud Pública de México. 2020. Available from: https://www.saludpublica.mx/index.php/spm/article/view/11601/11880.
- 205. Transformative Urban Mobility Initiative. COVID-19 y la Movilidad Sostenible: Observación y documentación de los primeros avances. Boon: TUMI; 2020. Available from: https://www.transformative-mobility.org/assets/publications/2020_07_TUMI_ COVID-19-ESP-and-Sustainable-Mobility-1.pdf
- 206. United Nations Human Settlements Programme. Urban Transport and COVID-19: Key Messages. New York: UN-Habitat; 2020. Available from: https://unhabitat.org/sites/default/files/2020/04/final_transport_key_messages_on_covid19_formatted.pdf
- 207. World Health Organization. Moving around during the COVID-19 outbreak. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2020. Available from: https://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/ health-emergencies/coronavirus-covid-19/technical-guidance/ moving-around-during-the-covid-19-outbreak.
- 208. United Nations. Policy Brief: COVID-19 in an Urban World. New York: United Nations; 2020. Available from: https://unhabitat. org/sites/default/files/2020/07/sg_policy_brief_covid_urban_ world_july_2020_final.pdf.
- 209. Bernal V, Montoya Robledo V, Montes L. Transporte público y bienestar social con perspectiva de género en tiempos del COVID-19. 2020 Abr 10. In: Banco Interamericano de Desarrollo. Moviliblog Ideas de Transporte y Movilidad para América Latina y el Caribe. Washington, D.C.: BID; 2020. Available from: https://blogs.iadb.org/transporte/es/transporte-publico-y-bienestar-social-con-perspectiva-de-genero-en-tiempos-del-covid-19/.
- **210.** World Health Organization. Considerations for public health and social measures in the workplace in the context of COVID-19. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/considerations-for-public-health-and-social-measures-in-the-workplace-in-the-context-of-covid-19.

- 211. International Association of Public Transport. Management of COVID-19: Guidelines for Public Transport Operators. Brussels: UITP; 2020. Available from: https://cms.uitp.org/wp/ wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Corona-Virus_EN.pdf
- 212. Pan American Health Organization. Recommendations for Cleaning and Disinfecting Public Places: Supermarkets, Markets, Neighborhood Stores, Banks, Public Transport, and Others. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2020. Available from: https:// iris.paho.org/bitstream/handle/10665.2/52188/PAHOCDECE-COVID-19200015_eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- **213.** World Health Organization. Advice on the use of masks in the context of COVID-19. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/advice-on-the-use-of-masks-in-the-community-during-home-care-and-in-health-care-settings-in-the-context-of-the-novel-coronavirus-(2019-ncov)-outbreak.
- 214. TransitCenter. Inclusive Transit: Advancing Equity Through Improved Access & Opportunity. New York: TransitCenter; 2020. Available from: https://transitcenter.org/publication/inclusive-transit-advancing-equity-improved-access-opportunity/.
- 215. Gobierno de Guadalajara. Ciclovías Emergentes por Covid-19 en Guadalajara. Guadalajara: Gobierno de Guadalajara; 2020. Available from: https://transparencia.guadalajara.gob.mx/sites/ default/files/CicloviasCovid2020.pdf.
- 216. Kashiwase H. Many homes in low- and lower middle-income countries lack basic handwashing facilities. 2020 Feb 13. In: World Bank. Data Blog. Washington, D.C.: World Bank; 2020. Blog [online]. Available from: https://blogs.worldbank.org/ opendata/many-homes-low-and-lower-middle-income-countries-lack-basic-handwashing-facilities?fbclid=lwAR2T6Xhmd-QWpmpQuLgrxMGDmPxewaKvfWxCC9RuGxTqf8OIRv66dZIm-VaSQ.
- 217. World Health Organization, United Nations Children's Fund. WHO/UNICEF Joint Monitoring Programme for Water Supply, Sanitation and Hygiene. WASH Data. Hygiene Baselines pre-COVID-19. New York: WHO/UNICEF JMP; 2020. Available from: https://washdata.org/report/jmp-2020-covid-regional-hygiene-snapshot-amro.
- **218.** Pan American Health Organization. Recommendations for Environmentall Public Health Measures during Drought and Water Conservation. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2020. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/52185
- **219.** Jong W, Duckers MLA, van der Velden PG. Leadership of mayors and governors during crises: A systematic review on tasks and effectiveness. Journal of Contingencies & Crisis Management. 2016;24(1):46-58. Available from: https://www.socialsystemsev-idence.org/articles/247479-leadership-of-mayors-and-governors-during-crises-a-systematic-review-on-tasks-and-effectiveness?t=Leadership.

- **220.** World Health Organization. Practical actions in cities to strengthen preparedness for the COVID-19 pandemic and beyond. An interim checklist for local authorities. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/rest/bitstreams/1287712/retrieve.
- 221. World Health Organization. Checklist on practical actions in cities to strengthen preparedness for the COVID-19 pandemic and beyond. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https://apps.who. int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/333296/WHO-2019-nCoV-ActionsforPreparedness-Tool-2020.1-eng.xlsx.
- **222.** Febres Cordero D. Cuarentena estricta por localidades: conoce el ABC de estas medidas. Bogotá Mi Ciudad; 2020. Available from: https://bogota.gov.co/mi-ciudad/seguridad/cuarente-na/cuarentena-estricta-por-localidades-conoce-el-abc-de-estas-medidas.
- 223. Prorrogan los cordones sanitarios en Capital y Malvinas Argentinas. El Diario; 2020;Provinciales. Available from: https://www. eldiariocba.com.ar/provinciales/2020/7/20/prorrogan-los-cordones-sanitarios-en-capital-malvinas-argentinas-25003.html.
- 224. Ministry of Health & Wellness. Public Notice: St. Mary Quarantine. Kingston: Ministry of Health & Wellness; 2020. Available from: https://www.moh.gov.jm/public-notice-st-mary-quarantine/.
- 225. Senior Services Associated. Special Shopping Hours for Vulnerable Populations. Elgin, IL: Senior Services Associated; 2020. Available from: https://seniorservicesassoc.org/ special-shopping-hours-for-vulnerable-populations/.
- 226. Vera F. ¿Cómo responder efectivamente a la pandemia de la COVID-19 en asentamientos informales de alta densidad? El caso del Barrio 31, Buenos Aires; 2020. In: Banco Interamericano de Desarrollo. Blog Ciudades Sostenibles. Washington, D.C.: BID; 2020. Blog [online]. Available from: https://blogs. iadb.org/ciudades-sostenibles/es/asentamientos-barrios-informales-coronavirus-covid19-pandemia-barrio-31-ciudad-buenos-aires-densidad-poblacional-poblacion-vulnerable-medidas-prevencion-contencion/.
- 227. United Nations Human Settlements Programme. Key messages. COVID and informal settlements. New York: UN-Habitat; 2020. Available from: https://unhabitat.org/sites/ default/files/2020/03/english_final_un-habitat_key_messages-covid19-informal_settlements.pdf.
- 228. Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights. Covid-19 and indigenous peoples' rights. New York: OHCHR; 2020. Available from: https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/lssues/IPeoples/OHCHRGuidance_COVID19_IndigenousPeoplesRights.pdf.
- 229. Rodriguez-Diaz CE, Guilamo-Ramos V, Mena L, Hall E, Honermann B, Crowley J, et al. Risk for COVID-19 infection and death among Latinos in the United States: examining heterogeneity in transmission dynamics. Ann Epidemiol. 2020;S1047-2797(20)30267-2. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.annepidem.2020.07.007.

- **230.** García C. En casi un mes, hubo mil 604 casos covid-19 en Central de Abasto de CdMx. Milenio. 2020;Política. Available from: https://www.milenio.com/politica/comunidad/ coronavirus-cdmx-central-abasto-mil-064-casos-mes.
- 231. Perú interviene los mercados al descubrir cientos de vendedores con Covid-19. Cooperativa.cl. 2020; 15 May. Available from: https://www.cooperativa.cl/noticias/sociedad/salud/ coronavirus/peru-interviene-los-mercados-al-descubrir-cientos-de-vendedores-con/2020-05-15/023922.html.
- 232. Spike in COVID 19 cases among Farmworkers, including Jamaicans in Ontario. Available from:: https://www.loopjamaica.com/ content/spike-covid-cases-among-farm-workers-includingjcans-ontario
- 233. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, World Health Organization. COVID-19 and Food Safety: Guidance for competent authorities responsible for national food safety control systems. Rome, Geneva: FAO, WHO; 2020. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/331842/ WHO-2019-nCoV-Food_Safety_authorities-2020.1-eng.pdf.
- 234. United Nations. Policy Brief: The Impact of COVID-19 on Food Security and Nutrition. New York: United Nations; 2020. Available from: https://reliefweb.int/report/world/policy-brief-impact-covid-19-food-security-and-nutrition-june-2020.
- 235. Oficina Regional de la FAO para América Latina y el Caribe. FAO y la Federación Latinoamericana de Mercados de Abastecimiento dan recomendaciones para que los mercados mayoristas enfrenten el COVID-19. Santiago de Chile: Oficina Regional de la FAO para América Latina y el Caribe; 2020. Available from: http://www.fao.org/americas/noticias/ver/es/c/1273363/.
- 236. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Update: COVID-19 Among Workers in Meat and Poultry Processing Facilities: United States, April-May 2020. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. n. p.: CDC; 2020. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/ mmwr/volumes/69/wr/mm6927e2.htm.
- 237. World Health Organization. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) outbreak: rights, roles and responsibilities of health workers, including key considerations for occupational safety and health. Interim Guidance. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/rest/bitstreams/1272583/retrieve.
- 238. Pan American Health Organization. Frequently Asked Questions for the Management of Health Workers in Response to COVID-19. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2020. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/bitstream/handle/10665.2/52095/PA-HOHSSHRCOVID-19200010_eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- 239. World Health Organization. Occupational safety and health in public health emergencies: a manual for protecting health workers and responders. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/occupational-safety-and-health-in-public-health-emergencies-a-manual-for-protecting-health-workers-and-responders.

- 240. Ministerio de Economía, Salud y Agricultura. Lineamiento para buenas prácticas respecto a la prevención y reacción por COVID-19 para el funcionamiento de ferias libres. Santiago de Chile: Ministerio de Economía, Salud y Agricultura; 2020. Available from: https://www.fucoa.cl/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/ Protocolo-de-lineamientos-COVID-19.pdf.
- 241. World Health Organization. Getting your workplace ready for COVID-19. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https://www. who.int/publications/m/item/getting-your-workplace-readyfor-covid-19-how-covid-19-spreads.
- **242.** Ministerio de Agricultura. Recomendaciones para plantas de proceso y empaque de alimentos. Santiago de Chile: Minagri; 2020. Available from: https://fucoa.cl/covid19_2/2/.
- **243.** Ministerio de Agricultura. Recomendaciones para ferias libres. Santiago de Chile: Minagri; 2020. Available from: https://www. fucoa.cl/covid19/3/.
- 244. World Health Organization. Rational use of personal protective equipment for coronavirus disease (COVID-19) and considerations during severe shortages. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/rational-use-of-personal-protective-equipment-for-coronavirus-disease-(covid-19)-and-considerations-during-severe-shortages.
- 245. Organización de las Naciones Unidas para la Alimentación y la Agricultura, Federación Latino-americana de Mercados de Abastecimiento. Mercados mayoristas: acción frente al COVID-19. Boletín núm. 1. Rome: FAO and FLAMA; 2020. Available from: http://www.fao.org/3/ca8442es/CA8442ES.pdf.
- 246. Pan American Health Organization, United Nations Office for Project Services. COVID-19: Medidas de Prevención en Obras. Medidas de prevención para evitar el contagio y la propagación del coronavirus en obras. Version 1.0. Washington, D.C., New York: PAHO, UNOPS; 2020. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/ bitstream/handle/10665.2/52057/FPLPSCOVID19200007_spa. pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y.
- 247. United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs: How to include marginalized and vulnerable people in risk communication and community engagement. Update #1. New York: OCHA; 2020. Available from: https://reliefweb.int/ report/world/covid-19-how-include-marginalized-and-vulnerable-people-risk-communication-and-0
- 248. Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean. Personas con discapacidad ante la enfermedad por coronavirus (COVID-19) en América Latina y el Caribe: situación y orientaciones. Santiago de Chile: CEPAL; 2020. Available from: https:// repositorio.cepal.org/bitstream/handle/11362/45491/1/ S2000300_es.pdf.

- 249. Pan American Health Organization. Guidelines for communicating about coronavirus disease 2019. A guide for leaders. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2020. Available from: https://iris. paho.org/bitstream/handle/10665.2/52391/PAHOCMUPA-COVID-1920004_eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- 250. Pan American Health Organization. COVID-19 Risk Communication and Community Engagement (RCCE). Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2020. Available from: https://www.paho.org/en/ file/63164/download?token=LqOP8PSw.
- 251. Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights. Los derechos humanos en el centro de la respuesta. New York: OHCHR; 2020. Available from:: https://acnudh.org/antonio-guterres-derechos-humanos-deben-estar-al-centro-de-larespuesta-a-covid-19/
- **252.** World Health Organization. Disability considerations during the COVID-19 outbreak. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/332015.
- **253.** World Health Organization. A guide to preventing and addressing social stigma associated with COVID-19. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/m/ item/a-guide-to-preventing-and-addressing-social-stigma-associated-with-covid-19.
- 254. World Health Organization. Participation as a driver of health equity. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2020. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/32 4909/9789289054126-eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y.
- 255. Plough A, Fielding JE, Chandra A, Williams M, Eisenman D, Wells KB, et al. Building Community Disaster Resilience: Perspectives from a Large Urban County Department of Public Health. Am J Public Health. 2013;103(7):1190-1197. Available from: https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3682619/.
- 256. Especial: Comedores comunitarios refuerzan acción social en Argentina durante pandemia por COVID-19. Xinhua Español; 2020. Available from: http://spanish.xinhuanet.com/2020-04/30/c_139020106.htm.
- 257. United Nations. COVID-19 and Human Rights We are all in this together. New York: United Nations Unidas; 2020. Available from: https://www.un.org/sites/un2.un.org/files/un_policy_brief_on_ human_rights_and_covid_23_april_2020.pdf.
- 258. Organization of American States, Inter-American Commission on Human Rights. Human Rights of Persons with COVID-19. Resolution No. 4/2020. New York, Washington, D.C.: Organization of American States; 2020. Available from: https://www.oas.org/en/ iachr/decisions/pdf/Resolution-4-20-en.pdf

- 259. World Health Organization. Monitoring and evaluation framework. COVID-19 strategic preparedness and response. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/ item/monitoring-and-evaluation-framework
- **260.** World Health Organization. Tracking Public Health and Social Measures. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https://www. who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/phsm
- 261. Pan American Health Organization. Promoting health equity, gender, ethnic equality and human rights. Washington, D.C.: PAHO; 2020. Available from: https://www.paho.org/en/documents/promoting-health-equity-gender-and-ethnic-equality-and-human-rights-covid-19-responses.
- 262. CartONG. Covid-19 crisis: How to adapt your data collection for monitoring and accountability? Chambéry: CartONG; 2020. Available from: https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/IM-covid-19-impact-on-monitoring-and-accountability_CartONG.pdf.
- 263. Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean. The COVID-19 pandemic is exacerbating the care crisis in Latin America and the Caribbean. Santiago de Chile: CEPAL; 2020. Available from: https://repositorio.cepal.org/bitstream/ handle/11362/45352/1/S2000260_en.pdf.

- **264.** Field R. The false dichotomy of public health vs. the economy: how history shows they're inseparable. 2020 Jun 8. In: Public Health Law Watch; 2020. Weblog [en línea]. Available from: https://www.publichealthlawwatch.org/blog/2020/6/8/ public-health-vs-the-economy-theyre-inseparable.
- 265. Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean. Enfrentar los efectos cada vez mayores del COVID-19 para una reactivación con igualdad: nuevas proyecciones. Informe Especial COVID-19 núm. 5. Santiago de Chile: CEPAL; 2020. Available from: http://repositorio.cepal.org/bitstream/handle/11362/45782/1/ S2000471_es.pdf.
- 266. United Nations. Secretary-General's Nelson Mandela Lecture: Tackling the Inequality Pandemic: A New Social Contract for a New Era [as delivered]. New York: United Nations; 2020. Available from: https://www.un.org/sg/en/content/sg/statement/2020-07-18/secretary-generals-nelson-mande-la-lecture-"tackling-the-inequality-pandemic-new-social-contract-for-new-era"-delivered.



